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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of financial condition and results of operations of Empire 
Industries Ltd. (“EIL” or the “Group”) is supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017.  

The audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2017 
have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and require management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported and disclosed in such financial statements and related notes. 
Unless otherwise indicated, a reference to a year relates to the Group’s fiscal year ended December 31.  All amounts are 
reported in Canadian dollars unless specifically stated to the contrary.  Financial information disclosed in this MD&A is 
presented in thousands (000’s) with the exception of percentages and per share data. 

The Board of Directors, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, approved the contents of this MD&A on April 30, 
2017.  Disclosure contained in this document is current to this date, unless otherwise stated. 

Additional information on EIL is available through the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at 
www.sedar.com 

Business Description 
The Group’s operations take place primarily through the following controlled affiliates: 

Business Unit Description 

Dynamic Attractions – 100% Turn-key supplier of a proprietary line of premium entertainment attractions for theme 
parks and stand-alone tourist venues.  Provides Unlimited AttractionsTM line of theming 
services that develop rides or ride systems into attractions.  The Group also provides parts 
and services for its own ride systems and those ride systems supplied by others. 

Leased production and office facilities in Port Coquitlam, BC.  Leased Attractions 
Development Center in Orlando FL. Leased Parts and Service offices in Arlington TX.  
Leased Business Development office in Toronto ON. 

Dynamic Structures – 100% Primarily designs and manufactures complex ride systems for global theme park 
customers.  Also designs and manufactures sophisticated custom machinery and 
equipment, such as astronomical telescopes and enclosures.   

Leased production facilities in Port Coquitlam, BC in addition to one owned production 
facility west of Edmonton, AB and a leased production support office in Edmonton AB. 

Zhejiang Dynamic Structures 
Engineering Technology 
Limited 100% 

Incorporated in January 2017, the purpose of this entity will be to expand and improve 
the Group’s manufacturing capacity in China. 

Dynamic Entertainment 
Group Ltd. – 73.5% 

Incorporated in July 2017, the purpose of this entity will be to operate the Group’s co-
venture business in North America, and to hold its investments in the Group’s co-venture 
business in China. 

 

  

http://www.sedar.com/
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In addition to these business units, the Group holds significant equity interests in two business enterprises: 

Enterprise Business 

Tornado Global Hydrovacs 
Ltd. (“Tornado”) – 23.8% 

TGHL designs, manufactures and sells hydrovac trucks for excavation service providers to 
the oil and gas industry and the municipal market.  It operates through a leased production 
facility in Stettler, AB and a sales office located in Calgary, Alberta.  TGHL is also in the early 
stages of commencing similar operations in China and has established an office in Beijing, 
China. 

Dongguan Qiguang Dynamic 
Steel Structures, Ltd. (45%) 

Fabrication and installation of complex structural steel projects in China through a company 
owned 55% by Guangdong Qiguang Steel Structures Co. Ltd. and 45% by EIL. The company 
operates out of a leased facility in the Guangdong Province. 

EIL maintains its head office in Winnipeg, Manitoba.  The Group’s common shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange 
under the trading symbol EIL. 

Consolidated Financial Results 
Periods ended Dec 31

2017 2016 Variance 2017 2016 Variance

Operating Results:

Revenues 123,550 117,987 5,563 17,790 27,531 (9,741)
Adjusted gross margin 18,366 22,462 (4,096) (3,385) 6,837 (10,222)
Adjusted gross margin % 14.87% 19.04%  (4.2%)  (19.0%) 24.83%  (43.9%)
Adjusted EBITDA (1,798) 5,594 (7,392) (10,198) 1,179 (11,377)
Adjusted EBITDA %  (1.5%) 4.74%  (6.2%)  (57.3%) 4.28%  (61.6%)
Adjusted EBIT (6,753) 1,946 (8,699) (12,144) (622) (11,522)
Adjusted EBIT %  (5.5%) 1.65%  (7.1%)  (68.3%)  (2.3%)  (66.0%)

Net Income (11,643) 3,978 (15,621) (13,958) (2,558) (11,400)

Income (loss) per share:

Basic & diluted - continuing operations (0.170) 0.020 (0.190) (0.200) (0.040) (0.160)
Basic & diluted  - discontinued operations - 0.040 (0.040) - - -
Basic & diluted - all operations (0.170) 0.060 (0.230) (0.200) (0.040) (0.160)

Twelve months ended Quarter ended
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Outlook 
In addition to other sections of the Group’s report, this section contains forward-looking information and actual outcomes 
may differ materially from those expressed or implied therein. For more information, see the section titled “Forward- Looking 
Information” in this MD&A.  

The Group had a Net loss of $11.6 million in 2017 versus prior year Net profit of $4.0 million.  The operating results for 2017 
were negatively impacted by provisions of $14.0 million taken in the fourth quarter because the Group concluded that it was 
appropriate to increase the project budgets on 3 of 22 active projects due to new information being identified and disclosed 
late the fourth quarter and after December 31, 2017. Virtually all of this loss was caused by three, “first-generation” 
design/build ride contracts. This provision arose because management increased its estimated cost to complete on these 
three challenging contracts.  

Excluding these three first-generation projects but including the remaining 19 active projects, Normalized Revenue in 2017 
was $115.1 million and Normalized EBITDA in 2017 was $10.8 million (9.4% EBITDA Margin). 
 
The first flying theater, sold over five years ago, had revenue that just covered its direct manufacturing costs whereas all the 
subsequent sales of flying theaters have generated healthy contribution margins for the Group. We also have historical 
evidence that our robotic tracked ride generated no job margin on the first installation, whereas the subsequent installations 
all have done well and were on budget. The three first-generation ride systems mentioned above, are on track to generate 
minimal contribution margin as well, after giving effect to the year-end provision taken in 2017. Therefore, it is important to 
look beyond these three challenging jobs to get a better sense of what lies ahead.  

The Group has agreed to the terms of a five-year strategic cooperation agreement with a new customer in Asia. The strategic 
cooperation agreement grants Dynamic Attractions preferred vendor status and is expected to be launched with Dynamic 
Attractions supplying three of the Group’s proprietary ride systems with a combined value of USD $93 million to three 
different theme parks currently under construction.  The first two theme park awards are in the process of being finalized 
and the third such award is expected before year-end. The delivery schedule will be 24 months from when each specific 
supply agreement is executed, at which time, the contracts will be added to backlog.  This will add to our backlog in 2018 and 
together with our reduced indirect and overhead expenditures, will improve our EBITDA margins to acceptable levels.  

The Group has invested $14 million in developing its proprietary product line over the past three years not to mention its 
investment in property, plant and equipment of $16 million during the same three-year period. All of these investments have 
positioned the Group as a global leader in the higher margin, media-based attractions market niche with a proprietary product 
line and a unique capability to work with only select clients on supplying them our iconic ride systems. We expect to benefit 
from our strategic focus on this market niche that is projected to grow rapidly for many years to come. We have a record high 
backlog of awarded contracts and continue to scour the world for great projects with great clients, leveraging the sale of our 
proprietary media-based attraction ride systems.  

Capacity is tight in the industry and the Group is exploring ways to increase its capacity concurrent with lowering the cost 
structure of its manufacturing base, predominantly located in Vancouver.  

The profit performance is expected to improve in 2018 because the first-generation backlog represents approximately 11% 
of the total backlog. Production is scheduled to ramp up steadily in the first half of 2018. The results for Q4 2017 proved that 
the three, first-generation projects in later stages of manufacturing and acceptance, came back to hurt the Group. Now that 
we made the year end loss provision for these three projects, the proportion of first-generation products will decrease in 
2018 and afterwards and the proportion of ‘build to print’ work will correspondingly increase. 

We will continue to shelter our profits from income tax through the utilization of loss carry forwards and investment tax 
credits arising from the use of Scientific Research & Experimental Development (SR&ED). On a simplified basis, our $14.4 
million of deferred tax assets at December 31, 2017 will continue to shield us from cash tax expense on approximately $50 
million of future taxable income at the current statutory tax rates. 

The Group has a current market capitalization of only $40 million, but the Group believes its intrinsic value has never been 
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higher. The officers, directors and insiders own over 50% of EIL so our goals are completely aligned with shareholders to make 
sure that the market value rises to close the gap with its intrinsic value and that the intrinsic value rises as we execute our 
plan successfully.  

2017 Results Review 

Revenues and Adjusted Gross Margins 
The operating results for 2017 were negatively impacted by a $14.0 million provision taken in the fourth quarter because the 
Group concluded that it was appropriate to increase the project budgets on 3 of 22 active projects due to new information 
being identified and disclosed late the fourth quarter and after December 31, 2017. 

Increases in revenues of $5.6 million in 2017 or 4.7% were negatively offset by a significant decline in the Group’s adjusted 
gross margin percentage to 14.9% from 19.0% in the previous year.  Before giving effect to the above-mentioned adjustments, 
the Group’s revenues would have increased to $137.6 million or an increase of 16.6% compared to the previous year.  
Consistent with that, the Group’s adjusted gross margins would have also increased by 4.5% to 23.5% compared to the 
previous and in line with results that the Group had posted through the first nine months of 2017. 

The key factors behind the Group’s conclusions are: 

1. Technical challenges related to proprietary products that did not present themselves until this point.  Solutions to 
these challenges have been identified and corrective action has been put into place, however, with extensions of 
the schedule for the Group and some of its key sub-contractors and incremental materials both of which required 
the Group to increase the project budgets. 

2. Scheduling challenges caused by design delays resulted in bringing in outside resources to assist in the completion 
of certain milestones as well as a more condensed manufacturing schedule resulting in expedited purchases and 
overtime costs and increased shipping costs. 

3. Capacity constraints caused by the Group having a backlog of $228 million at the end of 2017, required the Group 
to outsource components of the remaining project deliverables not only to meet project specific schedules but to 
also ensure that the delays and challenges being experienced in these three contracts do not impact the Group’s 
other projects by tying up the Group’s production capacity longer than expected.   

The Group believes that the revisions were necessary to make the appropriate decisions for the above noted issues to be 
isolated to 3 projects which it will largely work through over the next 12 months and continue to execute its remaining backlog 
effectively while also securing new contracts to continue to grow the business. 

Selling, General and Administrative Costs 
Selling, general and administrative costs increased by $3.3 million in 2017 compared to 2016.  The increase in selling, general 
and administrative expenses is driven by an increase of $4.0 million of selling, general and administrative expensive expenses 
in the media-based attractions segment and an increase $0.9 million in the corporate segment offset by a reduction of $1.6 
million of selling, general and administrative expense in the steel fabrication segment.  Notwithstanding the negative impact 
on the operating results discussed above, the media based attraction segment continues to grow and have a significant 
backlog and the increase in selling, general and administrative has been driven by and in response to that rapid growth.  The 
increase in the selling, general and administrative expenses in the corporate segment were largely correlated with completion 
of numerous capital transactions and other corporate initiatives undertaken and/or completed by the Group.  The reduction 
of selling, general and administrative expenses in the steel fabrication segment is due to the reduction of the operations in 
Edmonton, Alberta as the Group restructured that operation in the current year.   

Selling, general and administrative expenses in 4Q17 increased by $1.1 million compared to the same period in 2016.  This 
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increase is reflective of the increase for the twelve-month period ended and driven by same factors discussed in the full year 
analysis. 

Adjusted EBITDA 
Adjusted EBITDA loss for the year ended December 31, 2017 of $1.8 million was $7.4 million less than 2016. This was due to 
the increase in project budgets identified above.  

Adjusted EBITDA loss for 4Q17 of $10.2 million was $11.4 million less than the same quarter in 2016.  This reduction in 
adjusted EBITDA for the quarter is driven by the increase in project budgets identified above.  

Cashflow Generated (used) by Operations 
The Group’s cash flow generated (used) by continuing operations decreased by $8.5 million in 2017 largely as a consequence 
of the $11.6 million Loss from continuing operations. .  In 4Q17, the Group’s cashflow generated by operations decreased by 
$11.8 million to a usage of $11.1 million when compared to the same three-month period in 2016.  

The Group’s cash from operating activities increased by $3.3 million because of the positive net change on non-cash working 
capital of $13.9 million in 2017. This was a marked increase over 2016 that used $6.3 million in cash from operating activities. 

Depreciation and Amortization 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment increased by $0.9 million in 2017 compared to 2016.  This increase was due 
to a full year of depreciation of the $5.3 million of additions recorded in 2016 and the commencement of depreciation of the 
$6.3 million of additions recorded by the Group in 2017. 

Amortization of intangible assets increased by $0.5 million in 2017 compared to 2016.  Consistent with property, plant and 
equipment, the amortization of intangible assets has increased due to full year amortization expense arising from $6.9 million 
in additions from 2016 and the commencement of amortization of $3.9 million of additions in 2017. 

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $0.1 million in 4Q17 compared to the same three-month period in 2016 
because of the same factors outlined on an annual basis.   

Finance Costs 
Finance costs increased by $1.1 million in 2017 over 2016 which is driven in part by the full year effect of the increase in long-
term debt of the Group but also approximately $0.4 million of finance costs from customer discounts relating to prompt 
payments of milestones achieved.  The Group raised $18.5 million in long-term debt in 2016 $15.3 million of which was raised 
in the fourth quarter. 

Finance costs in 4Q17 increased $0.4 million over 4Q16 because of the impact of the finance costs associated with the 
customers discounts identified above being realized in the quarter. 

Share of profit (loss) from associate 
The Group recorded a loss from its associate investment in ACE Industrial Services Ltd. in Fort McMurray, Alberta of $0.6 
million in 2017 compared to a loss of $0.5 million in 2016.  Effective December 28, 2017, the Group sold its shares of ACE to 
the majority shareholder for gross proceeds of just over $1.8 million representing the carrying value of its investment as well 
as balances owing to the Group from ACE.   

The Group also converted its note receivable from Tornado Global Hydrovacs (“TGHL”) into common shares of TGHL 
representing 25% ownership.  The Group recorded a loss from TGHL of $0.2 million in 2017 representing is share of TGHL’s 
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operating losses from September 15, 2017 through the end of 2017. 

In 4Q17 the Group recorded equity losses from its associates of $0.5 million representing $0.3 million from ACE Industrial 
Services Ltd. and $0.2 million from TGHL compared to an equity loss of $0.2 million in 2016 from ACE Industrial Services.   

Stock-based compensation 
The Group recorded stock based compensation expense in 2017 of $0.9 million which is an increase $0.3 million over the 
same period in 2016.  The increase in stock based compensation is correlated to the 1.2 million incentive shares that were 
issued to 3 executives in August 2017.  

Stock-based compensation expense in 4Q17 was minimal and consistent with the 4Q16 with moderate charges relating to 
ongoing amortization of unvested options in the quarter. 

Fair value changes in derivative financial instruments 
The Group recorded a loss of $1.1 million in 2017 on changes to the fair value of its outstanding foreign currency forward 
contracts.  In 2016 the Group recorded a gain of $4.4 million.  At December 31, 2016 the Group had a fair value asset recorded 
relating to its foreign currency forward contracts of $0.6 million compared to a liability of $0.5 million recorded as at 
December 31, 2017.  The reason for large change in fair value is because the outstanding forward contracts $20 million at 
December 31, 2017 had a weighted average forward rate of 1.2315 versus the year-end exchange rate of 1.2545.  At 
December 31, 2016, the Group had $34.1 million of outstanding forward contracts outstanding with a weighted average 
forward rate of $1.3591 versus a year-end exchange rate of 1.3427. 

The fair value changes are driven primarily by the rate differential between the forward rates and the actual rates on the 
valuation dates which for this MD&A was December 31, 2017 and 2016. 

In 4Q17, the Group recorded a fair value loss on derivative financial instruments of $2.8 million compared to loss of $0.6 
million recorded in same period in 2016.  The loss in 4Q17 was driven by the Group settling forward contracts with a notional 
value of $30 million USD at forward rates of $1.3340 which represented fair value assets at current foreign exchange rates.  
In addition to the forward contracts settled in the quarter, the outstanding forward contract held by the group are in a liability 
position as the forward rates of 1.2315 were less than the spot rate of 1.2545 at December 31, 2017. 

Other Component of Income (loss) 
The loss of $3.5 million recorded for 2017 represents a previously reported and recorded restructuring charge of $1.0 million 
relating to its steel fabrication operations in Edmonton as well as a loss of $0.1 million recorded as result of the fair value 
difference between the share price of $0.09 per share relating to the conversion of the note receivable of TGHL and the 
market price of the shares on September 15, 2017 of $0.085 which is the date of the conversion.  The Group has also recorded 
a provision of $2.3 million for rebates to a strategic customer for future business opportunities.  The Group did not have such 
a program in place with any other customer in previous years. 

In 2016, the loss recorded was an impairment charge relating to a previously developed and patented technology design. 

The quarterly variance in this category compared to 2016 is solely based on timing, where the Group recorded the 
restructuring provision for its steel fabrication operation in the first quarter of 2017 and the impairment charge recorded in 
2016 was recorded in the fourth quarter. 
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Net income (loss) from discontinued operations 
The Group had no activity in discontinued operations in 2017. 

In 2016, up to June 28 when the spin out of Tornado Hydrovacs was completed, the Group’s discontinued operations had 
$9.1 million of revenues and an operating loss of $0.7 million before tax.  The Group realized a gain on the spin out transaction 
in the amount $3.3 million net of tax which is yielding the income from discontinued operations in 2016 of $2.6 million.  There 
was minimal activity in discontinued operations in 4Q16.  

Income tax expense 
The Group’s cash tax expense was $nil in 2017 compared to $0.1 million in 2016.  Deferred tax expense decreased by $5.2 
million in 2017 as compared 2016 due to the net loss in 2017.  Deferred tax expense arises from the utilization of recorded 
deferred tax assets consisting of loss carry forwards, temporary differences and investment tax credits. While deferred tax 
recoveries arise from the recognition of tax loss carryforwards for use against future taxable income.    

In 4Q17, the Group’s cash tax expense was $nil which is consistent with the same period in 2016.  In 4Q17, the group reversed 
projected deferred tax expense of $0.9 million recorded through nine months based on the operating results at that point 
and set up a deferred tax recovery of $3.9 million in the quarter relating to the changes in the Group’s operating results 
reported.  In 4Q16, the Group had $0.2 million of deferred tax expensed reclassified to discontinued operations and no 
incremental deferred tax expense in the quarter. 

As at December 31, 2017 the Group has recorded net deferred tax assets of $15.3 million which is an increase of $8.2 million 
compared to December 31, 2016.  The net increase in deferred tax assets was the recognition of $4.3 million in investment 
tax credits in 2017 and loss carry forwards of $3.9 million.  On a simplified basis, the Group’s $15.3 million of deferred tax 
assets at December 31, 2017 will continue to shield the Group from cash tax expense on $56.7 million of future taxable 
income at the current statutory tax rates.   

Net income 
The Group’s net loss of $11.6 million in 2017 compared to net income of $4.0 million in 2016.  In 4Q17, the Group’s net loss 
was $14.0 million compared to a net loss of $2.6 million in same period in 4Q16.  These changes were driven largely by the 
factors discussed above throughout the 2017 Results Review section. 

Significant Events 
• On January 22, 2017, the Group incorporated a wholly-owned foreign enterprise in the People’s Republic of China 

named Zhejiang Dynamic Structures Engineering Technology Limited.  The purpose of this entity will be to expand 
and perform some of the Group’s manufacturing and procurement activities in China.  

• On May 19, 2017, the Group announced that it has received a USD$ 120 million, multi-year, multi-theme park ride 
system series of contracts with one of the leading, global theme park owners. These contracts will largely be 
executed over the next 4 years from the Group’s Vancouver-based design and manufacturing facilities as well as 
their Attractions Development Center in Orlando Florida. 

• On June 14, 2017, the Group announced that is has received a USD$ 40 million contract to deliver a ride system with 
on the leading, global theme park owners.  This contract will large be executed of the next 24-30 months from the 
Group’s Vancouver-based design and manufacturing facilities. 

• On August 17, 2017, the Group closed a private placement of 2 million shares to 4 key executives.  Each executive 
received 200,000 shares priced at $0.53 per share, plus 300,000 inducement shares at no cost.  The deemed value 
of the inducement shares was $0.66 per share, which has been recorded as a stock based compensation expense. 

• On August 28, 2017, the Group announced that it entered into a letter of intent to structure and capitalize $31 
million of equity in co-venture attractions companies.  These co-venture attraction companies will partner with 
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tourist-based locations to co-own and operate the Group’s propriety attractions at key tourist venues in North 
America and China. 

• On September 15, 2017, the Group completed the Tornado shares for debt transaction that was initially proposed 
on August 4, 2017.  This transaction was completed after the completion of common share private placement.  The 
Group received 30,185,544 common shares of Tornado valued at $2.7 million representing 26.6% of the outstanding 
common shares of Tornado. 

• On October 12, 2017, the Group announced that it has closed a private placement of 6,000,000 subscription receipts 
at a price of $0.50 each for gross aggregate proceeds of $3 million, subject to final regulatory approval.  Pursuant to 
the Subscription Receipt Agreement, the subscription receipts will be exchanged for 6,000,000 common shares of 
the Group and the funds will be released from escrow, upon satisfaction of certain escrow conditions including 
closing of a rights offering and the Group investing at least $6 million of equity in Dynamic Entertainment Group Ltd. 
on or before January 31, 2018. This condition was satisfied at the end of 2017. 

• On October 16, 2017, the Group announced that it is commencing a rights offering to its shareholders on the basis 
of 0.15 rights for each common share.  Each right will entitle the holder to subscribe for one common share at a 
price of $0.50.  $7,823,675 million of common shares were issued pursuant to this rights offering. 

Subsequent Significant Events 
• The Group has agreed to the terms of a five-year strategic cooperation agreement with a new customer in Asia. The 

strategic cooperation agreement grants Dynamic Attractions preferred vendor status and is expected to be launched 
with Dynamic Attractions supplying three of the Group’s proprietary ride systems with a combined value of USD $93 
million to three different theme parks currently under construction.  The first two theme park awards are in the 
process of being finalized and the third such award is expected before year-end. The delivery schedule will be 24 
months from when each specific supply agreement is executed, at which time, the contracts will be added to backlog. 

 

Selected Annual and Quarterly Financial Information 

 
 

Annual Financial Information
For the years ended 2017 2016 2015

Sales 123,550 117,987 131,225
Profit (loss) from continuing operations (11,643) 1,414 1,849
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations - 2,564 (479)
Profit (loss) from all operations (11,643) 3,978 1,370
Profit (loss) per share, basic & diluted (0.18) 0.06 0.02

Total Assets 86,387 78,718 80,140
Total long-term financial liabilities 6,100 13,089 2,937

Cash dividends declared per common share - - -
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Working Capital and Liquidity  
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Group’s continuing operations used $10.6 million of cash, compared with $2.4 
million of cash generated in 2016 excluding the impact of changes in non-cash working capital amounts. Cash from operating 
activities was positive $3.3 million versus negative $6.3 million the prior year. The Company had a net increase in cash and 
equivalents during the 2017 of $4.7 million, which caused the bank advances to be reduced from $6.9 million at the end of 
2016 to $2.2 million at December 31, 2017. The Group expects that its operations will generate sufficient cash on a go-forward 
basis to meet the Group’s obligations. 

The Group has a $15.0 million revolving credit facility with CIBC, of which $2.2 million was drawn as of December 31, 2017.  
The Group’s marginable assets at December 31, 2017 were $15.0 million, which is $12.8 million more than the Group’s total 
draw on the operating line. 

The Group made $7.5 million of cash principal repayments during the year.  Total term debt of $12.4 million as at December 
31, 2017 consisted of $2.7 million of term debt with CIBC, $8.7 million of term debt with EDC, $0.1 million under finance 
leases, and $0.9 million of a limited recourse loan.  

The Group was in violation of two of its financial covenants at December 31, 2017. The waiver for the breach was not obtained 
until after December 31, 2017.  As a result of the timing of the receipt of the waiver, long-term debt amounts due beyond 
2018 but subject to the financial covenant were required by IRFS accounting standards to be classified as current for the year-
ended December 31, 2017.  This reclassification has an adverse effect on the accounting presentation of the Group’s working 
capital position at December 31, 2017. 

The table below shows the comparative impact of the Groups working capital position with the reclassification and without 
the reclassification: 

 

For the years ended 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 2016
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Sales 17,790 41,501 31,831 32,428 27,531 32,330 30,348 27,778
Profit (loss) from continuing operations (12,638) 990 890 (885) (2,660) (269) 218 4,125
Profit (loss) from discontinued operations - - - - 102 (43) 2,868 (363)
Profit (loss) per share:

Basic & Diluted - continuing operations (0.20) 0.01 0.02 0.00 (0.04) (0.00) 0.00 0.06
Basic & Diluted - discontinued operations 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (0.00) 0.40 (0.00)
Basic & Diluted - all operations operations (0.20) 0.01 0.02 0.00 (0.04) (0.00) 0.40 0.06

Quarterly Financial Information

IFRS Non-IFRS IFRS Non-IFRS
For the periods ended Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2016

As Reported Adjustment Adjusted As Reported Adjustment Adjusted

Current Assets 42,075 - 42,075 44,511 (647) 43,864
Less: Cash and equivalents (83) - (83) (102) - (102)
Current Liabilities (57,263) 5,658 (51,605) (57,421) 11,937 (45,484)

Non-Cash Working Capital Position (15,271) 5,658 (9,613) (13,012) 11,290 (1,722)

Working Capital Ratio 0.74 0.81 0.78 0.96
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The Group’s adjusted working capital ratio has declined significantly when compared to last year at 0.81 to 1 compared with 
0.96 to 1 at December 31, 2016.  The adjustments identified to calculate the Group’s adjusted working capital ratio in 2017 
was the long-term portion of the CIBC and EDC debt that was classified as current removed from current liabilities as well as 
the fair value liabilities relating foreign currency forward contracts also removed.  In 2016 the adjustments identified were 
the long-term portions of the CIBC and EDC debt that was classified as current removed from current liabilities and the current 
portion Group’s fair value assets relating to foreign currency forward contracts also removed from current assets.     

Shareholders’ Equity 
Shareholders’ equity of $20.8 million at December 31, 2017 is $0.7 million higher than the shareholders’ equity at December 
31, 2016 due largely to increases in share capital through private placements, offset by the net loss in the period.  No dividends 
were declared or paid in the year.  The Group maintains a stock option plan for the benefit of officers, directors, key 
employees and consultants of the Group.  The Group had 4,691,667 outstanding options at December 31, 2017.  The average 
exercise price of the outstanding options was $0.40 per share.  Of these options, 4,426,667 were currently exercisable at an 
average exercise price of $0.40 per share. 

Market Capitalization 
The market capitalization of the Group’s 85,661,568 issued and outstanding common shares at April 30, 2018 was $45.4 
million or $0.53 per share, which is greater than the Group’s book value per share of $0.25 at December 31, 2017.  The issued 
and outstanding common shares at April 30, 2018, together with securities convertible into common shares are summarized 
in the table below. 

 

Segment Performance 
The Group’s operations consist of three separately identifiable segments, Media-based Attraction, Steel Fabrication Services 
and Corporate.  The Manufactured Products segment was divested during 2016 and is now presented as discontinued 
operations.  The performance of the Group’s operating segments is listed below:  

Fully Diluted Shares
As at April 30, 2018

Issued and outstanding common shares 85,661,568
Securities convertible into common shares
Warrants 6,300,000
Stock Options 5,566,667
Total Securities convertible into common shares 11,866,667

Fully Diluted Shares 97,528,235
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Other Matters 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

Periods ended Dec 31
2017 2016 Variance 2017 2016 Variance

Operating Results:

Revenues 116,160 101,991 14,169 16,130 23,681 (7,551)
Adjusted gross margin 19,101 21,258 (2,157) (2,922) 7,823 (10,745)
Adjusted gross margin % 16.4% 20.8%  (4.4%)  (18.1%) 33.0%  (51.2%)
Adjusted EBITDA 4,447 10,594 (6,147) (8,168) 3,879 (12,047)
Adjusted EBITDA % 3.8% 10.4%  (6.6%)  (50.6%) 16.4%  (67.0%)
Adjusted EBIT 17 2,376 (2,359) (9,952) 2,311 (12,263)
Adjusted EBIT % 0.0% 2.3%  (2.3%)  (61.7%) 9.8%  (71.5%)

Twelve months ended Quarter ended

Media-Based Attractions

Periods ended Dec 31
2017 2016 Variance 2017 2016 Variance

Operating Results:

Revenues 7,215 15,778 (8,563) 1,645 3,816 (2,171)
Adjusted gross margin (910) 986 (1,896) (573) (1,020) 447
Adjusted gross margin %  (12.6%) 6.2%  (18.9%)  (34.8%)  (26.7%) -8.1%
Adjusted EBITDA (2,452) (2,115) (337) (1,038) (1,899) 861
Adjusted EBITDA %  (34.0%)  (13.4%)  (20.6%)  (63.1%)  (49.8%)  (13.3%)
Adjusted EBIT (2,964) (2,605) (359) (1,187) (2,138) 951
Adjusted EBIT %  (41.1%)  (16.5%) -24.6%  (72.2%)  (56.0%)  (16.1%)

Twelve months ended Quarter ended

Steel Fabrication

Periods ended Dec 31
2017 2016 Variance 2017 2016 Variance

Operating Results:

Revenues 175 218 (43) 15 34 (19)
Adjusted gross margin 175 218 (43) 15 34 (19)
Adjusted EBITDA (3,793) (2,885) (908) (1,088) (801) (287)
Adjusted EBIT (3,806) (2,895) (911) (1,101) (796) (305)

Twelve months ended Quarter ended

Corporate (non-operating)
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The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS necessitates the use of management estimates, assumptions 
and judgment that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Although management reviews its estimates on an ongoing basis, actual 
results may differ from these estimates as confirming events occur. The following components of the financial statements 
depend most heavily on such management estimates, assumptions and judgment, any changes in which may have a material 
impact on the Group’s financial condition or results of operations. For more information about certain assumptions and risks 
that may affect these estimates, assumptions and judgments, please see the “Forward Looking Information” section of this 
MD&A. 

Revenue recognition 
The percentage of completion method and the revenue to be recognized are determined on the basis of estimates for which 
the Group has implemented an internal financial budgeting and reporting system which relies on historical experience.  The 
Group reviews the estimates of contract revenue and contract costs as of each reporting date.  Contract losses are recognized 
as soon as they are identified. 

Cash generating units  
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows.  Management determines which groups of assets are capable of generating cash inflows that are largely 
independent of other operations within the Group. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
Given the nature of business and the credit terms provided to customers, estimates and judgements are inherent in the on-
going assessment of the recoverability of some accounts receivable.  The Group maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts 
to reflect expected credit losses.  The Group is not able to predict changes in the financial conditions of its customers and the 
Group’s judgement related to the recoverability of accounts receivable may be materially impacted if the financial condition 
of the Group’s customers deteriorates. 

Valuation of inventory 
Estimates and judgements are inherent in the determination of the net realizable value of inventories.  The cost of inventories 
may not be fully recoverable if they are damaged or if the selling price of the inventory is less than its cost.  The Group 
regularly reviews its inventory quantities and reduces the cost attributed to inventory no longer deemed to be fully 
recoverable.  Estimates related to the determination of net realizable value may be impacted by a number of factors including 
market conditions. 

Share-based payments 
The Group measures the cost of share-based payments to employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the date on which they are granted.  Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires determining the 
most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant.  This estimate also requires 
the determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option, 
volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.   

Valuation of Long-lived Assets and Asset Impairment 
The Group periodically assesses the recoverability of values assigned to long-lived assets after considering potential 
impairment indicated by such factors as business and market trends, future prospects, current market value and other 
economic factors. In performing its review of recoverability, management estimates the future cash flows expected to result 
from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected future cash flows is less than the carrying 
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value of the asset, an impairment loss would be recognized based on the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the 
fair market value calculated using discounted future cash flows. 

Useful lives of key property, plant and equipment investment property and intangible assets 
The depreciation method and useful lives reflect the pattern in which management expects the asset's future economic 
benefits to be consumed by the Group.  Useful lives, depreciation methods, and residual values are reviewed periodically 
and, historically, changes to estimates of remaining useful lives have not been material.   

Deferred Income Taxes 
The Group accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method.  Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized based on deductible or taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases 
of the assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantially enacted tax rates expected to 
apply in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.  If the estimates and assumptions are modified 
in the future, the Group may be required to reduce or increase the value of deferred tax assets or liabilities resulting in, where 
applicable, an income tax expense or recovery.  The Group regularly evaluates deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

Investment tax credits 
Federal and provincial investment tax credits are accounted for as a reduction to the corresponding expenditures in the 
period in which the credits are earned and when there is reasonable assurance that the credits can be used to recover taxes. 

Risks and Uncertainties 

Operating Results 
The Group’s mix of businesses typically require significant financial resources, and there is no assurance that future revenues 
will be sufficient to generate the funds required to continue the Group’s business development and marketing activities. In 
certain markets, the Group competes with local, regional, national and international companies for work. With the experience 
of the Group’s operating subsidiaries, management believes it has developed systems, policies, and procedures to mitigate 
this risk. 

Design Risk 
As the Group’s projects are on the cutting edge of attraction design, there is the risk that new attractions will not perform as 
designed.  This may result in significant costs to re-design and modify attractions after they have been manufactured and 
installed to bring them into conformity with contractual performance specifications, or it may result in contractual penalties 
including rejection of the attraction by the customer.  The Group mitigates against these risks by ensuring it has multiple 
technical solutions to cutting edge engineering issues, so if the preferred solution does not function as intended, there are 
still alternatives. 

Project Performance 
Most of the Group’s sales contracts are fixed-price contracts, often resulting from competitive bids. When bidding on a 
project, the Group estimates its costs, including projected increases in the costs of labour, materials and services. 

Despite these estimates, actual costs could vary from the estimated amounts. These variations could adversely affect the 
Group’s business. Any inability of the Group’s subsidiaries to execute customer projects in accordance with requirements, 
including adherence to completion timetables, may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operations and 
prospects.  

The Group recognizes revenue using the percentage of completion accounting method, based on costs incurred as compared 
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to projected costs. Estimated losses on contracts are immediately recognized. Revenue estimates are based on management 
assumptions supported by historical experience. There can be no assurance that these estimates made during the contract 
execution phase will not vary from the actual results measured at the completion of the contract. 

Cost of Components and Raw Materials 
Significant components include audio visual equipment such as screens and projectors, motion control equipment and 
software, robot arm equipment, launch equipment.  The Group mitigates the risk of cost escalation in these components by 
means of long term strategic alliances with suppliers, by procurement policies and procedures designed to ensure that there 
are multiple suppliers available and that specific components are contracted for on a fixed price basis.  However, the cutting 
edge nature of the work being undertaken by the Group means that there is still risk that the components will ultimately cost 
more than originally estimated on any particular project. 

The principal cost of raw material is structural steel and other steel products. These supply and pricing arrangements are 
negotiated directly with steel manufacturers or steel supply companies that buy and warehouse steel products. Where 
appropriate, the Group will endeavor to include an escalation clause for material costs in jobs being tendered in the industrial, 
commercial and institutional sector in each contract. In the absence of an escalation clause, the Group mitigates its risk, to 
the extent possible, through contracted buying arrangements or limitations on the length of time that bids can remain 
outstanding prior to acceptance. In the circumstance of volatility in the commodity price of steel, unexpected increases in 
steel prices which are not hedged by escalation clauses or similar means, may negatively impact margins on a particular job 
and therefore the Group’s future results of operations or financial position. 

Liquidity Requirements 
The Group requires significant amounts of working capital in order to be able to operate. The Group’s contracts are primarily 
based upon firm prices and billing is generally performed on a milestone basis. Projects often involve changes or requests for 
extra work and although the Group endeavors to bill promptly for this extra work, any delay in issuing change orders can 
impact cash flows. Contracts typically allow for the customer to withhold between five and ten percent of the Group’s total 
billings until the completion of the project. As a consequence, larger and longer-term projects can greatly increase 
capitalization requirements for working capital. 

The Group’s ability to obtain additional capital is a significant factor in achieving its strategy of expansion in the construction 
industry. There can be no assurance that the current working capital of the Group will be sufficient to enable it to implement 
all of its objectives. Furthermore, the current state of the world’s financial markets may limit the Group’s ability to access 
credit in the event that it identifies a potential acquisition or some other business opportunity that would require a significant 
investment in resources. There can be no assurance that if and when the Group seeks equity or debt financing, it will be able 
to obtain the required funding on favorable commercial terms, or at all. Any such future financing may also result in additional 
dilution to existing shareholders. 

The Group requires sufficient financing to fund its operations. Failure to obtain financing on a timely basis could cause missed 
acquisition opportunities, delays in expansion and may also impact ongoing operations. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
Rapid currency fluctuations can have a significant impact on un-hedged non-Canadian dollar denominated projects. The 
Group typically sells in foreign currency, mostly US dollars.  Similarly, many of the raw material and component inputs are 
purchased in US dollars.  Where possible, the net exposure from these projects have been hedged with forward contracts to 
sell US dollars. 

Global Economic and Trade Environment 
Businesses and industries throughout the world are very tightly connected to each other. Thus, events seemingly unrelated 
to the Group may adversely affect the Group over the course of time. For example, a credit contraction in financial markets, 
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combined with reduced economic activity, may adversely affect theme park operators, developers, general contractors, and 
other businesses that collectively constitute a significant portion of the Group’s customer base. As a result, these customers 
may need to reduce their purchases of the Group’s products or services, or the Group may experience greater difficulty in 
receiving payment for the products or services that these customers purchase from the Group. Any of these events, or any 
other events caused by turmoil in world financial markets, may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 
operating results, and financial condition. 

In addition, the global nature of the Group’s sales means the Group is exposed to the risk of potential changes to international 
trade agreements. 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill their 
commitments to the Group. Notwithstanding the Group’s current credit policies and practices, there can be no assurance 
that customers will remain able to fulfill their commitments to the Group which may have an adverse effect on the Group’s 
financial performance. 

Bonding Capacity 
Some customers require performance bonds underwritten by insurance providers, or irrevocable letters of credit as a 
condition of contract award. However, there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to obtain such bonds or letters 
of credit in the quantity required to maintain or increase its level of activity. 

Reliance on Key Personnel 
The business activities of the Group involve a certain degree of risk that even a combination of experience, knowledge and 
diligence may not be able to overcome. Shareholders must rely on the ability, expertise, judgment, direction and integrity of 
the management of the Group. Success will be dependent on the services of a number of key personnel, including its 
executive officers and other key employees, the loss of any one of whom could have an adverse effect on its operations and 
business prospects. The Group feels that by being a publicly traded company it will have more flexibility than its private 
competitors to implement attractive incentive plans for key employees to attract and retain the necessary employees. 

Competitive Market 
The Group’s approach to competitive risk is to develop strong relationships with clients, increase the breadth of services 
offered and to broaden our geographic coverage to enhance service and competitiveness.  

Due to the competitive nature of the business, the Group must compete on price and quality of service. A significant portion 
of the Group’s business is to provide a contracted scope of work to clients on a fixed price or unit price basis. There can be 
no assurance that the fixed price commitment adequately recovers the full cost of providing the contracted scope of work. 
Nor can there be any assurance that the contracted scope of work is so clear as to prevent disagreements over the 
interpretation of what has been contracted for. Management is of the view that the Group’s experience in the industry 
provides it with the necessary expertise to resolve disputes that may arise in a manner that is satisfactory to the Group’s 
overall requirements. 

Interest Rate Risk 
Fluctuations in interest rates will affect that portion of the Group’s debt that is subject to variable interest rates, and will also 
affect the prices for other financial instruments. Such fluctuations could have an adverse effect on the Group’s financial 
performance. 

Labour Relations 
The employment of skilled tradespersons in the field and shops is subject to multi-year, collective agreements with a variety 
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of unions. The increasing shortage of skilled tradespersons is increasing the wage expectations and concessions of all 
fabricators and manufacturers. The Group has three non-union shops, and two unionized shops that are subject to their own 
collective agreements and several different collective agreements relating to field erection. The Group is at risk if there are 
labour disruptions relating to any of these collective agreements. 

Management feels the staggered expiration dates and independence of each collective agreement mitigates the issue of work 
stoppage that may arise at any one location. 

Acquisitions 
The Group may seek to expand its business through acquisitions and may divest underperforming or non-core businesses. 
The Group’s success depends, in part, upon management’s ability to identify such acquisition and divestiture opportunities 
and to negotiate favorable contractual terms. The Group’s ability to successfully integrate acquisitions into its operations 
could affect the Group’s financial results. 

The Group assesses the “labour/capital” trade-off that is associated with the increased usage of software to enhance 
employee productivity and increase profitability. Management has historically invested in prudent capital expenditures 
designed to mitigate the increasing cost of labour and the historically tight supply of skilled tradespersons. To the extent that 
the Group is unable to continue to invest in technological advancements designed to enhance its competitive cost structure, 
it may have an adverse effect on the Group’s operations. 

Environment/Regulatory 
Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger fines and 
liability and potentially increased capital expenditures and operating costs. No assurance can be given that environmental 
laws will not result in an increase in the costs of the Group’s activities or otherwise adversely affect the Group’s financial 
condition, results of operations or prospects. 

The Group maintains insurance consistent with industry practice to protect against losses due to sudden and accidental 
environmental contamination, accidental destruction of assets, and other operating accidents or disruption. The Group also 
has operational and emergency response procedures, and safety and environmental programs in place to reduce potential 
loss exposure. The Group believes that it is in substantial compliance, in all material respects, with all current environmental 
legislation and is taking such steps as it believes are prudent to ensure that compliance will be maintained. 

Forward Looking Information 
This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking statements.” All statements, other than statements of historical fact, that 
address activities, events or developments that the Group believes, expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future 
(including, without limitation, statements regarding financial and business prospects and financial outlook) are forward 
looking statements. Such statements include statements with respect to the expected execution of the theme park 
agreements and the shipping dates of the three rides. These forward-looking statements reflect the current expectations or 
beliefs of the Group, based on information currently available to the Group. Forward-looking statements are subject to a 
number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may cause the actual results of the Group to differ materially from those 
discussed in the forward-looking statements and, even if such actual results are realized or substantially realized, there can 
be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the Group. Factors that could cause actual 
results or events to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, changes in general economic 
and market conditions, changes to regulations affecting the Group’s activities, and uncertainties relating to the availability 
and costs of financing needed in the future. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as at the date on which it is made 
and, except as may be required by applicable securities laws, the Group disclaims any intent or obligation to update any 
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or otherwise. Although the Group 
believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, forward looking statements are 
not guarantees of future performance and, accordingly, undue reliance should not be put on such statements due to the 
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inherent uncertainty therein. 

Non-IFRS Methods 
In this MD&A, the Group uses two financial management metrics that are not in accordance with IFRS “Adjusted earnings 
(loss) before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (Adjusted EBITDA)” and “Adjusted Gross Margin”.  Because these 
terms are not defined by IFRS they cannot be formally presented in the consolidated financial statements. The definition of 
Adjusted EBITDA does not take into account the Group’s share of profit of an associate investment, gains and losses on the 
disposal of assets, fair value changes in foreign currency forward contracts and non-cash components of stock based 
compensation.  Adjusted EBIT is the result of the Group’s Adjusted EBITDA less depreciation and amortization expenses.  The 
Adjusted Gross Margin metric is the result of revenues less cost of sales, excluding depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment.  Cashflow Generation by Operations is the result of subtracting finance costs from Adjusted EBITDA.  It should be 
noted that the Group’s definition of Cashflow Generated by Operations, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBIT and Adjusted Gross 
Margin may differ from those definitions used by other companies.  

While not IFRS measures, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBIT and Adjusted Gross Margin are used by management, creditors, 
analysts, investors and other financial stakeholders to assess the Group’s performance and management from a financial and 
operational perspective. 

 
 

 
 

Periods ended Dec 31

2017 2016 Variance 2017 2016 Variance

Profit (loss) - before taxes (15,548) 2,823 (18,371) (18,722) (2,850) (15,872)
Add : Depreciation and amortization 4,955 3,648 1,307 1,946 1,801 145
Add/Deduct : (Gain) loss on disposal 3,470 1,001 2,469 2,425 968 1,457

of assets and other (income) loss
Add : Finance costs 2,507 1,425 1,082 876 452 424
Add/Deduct : Deduct Share of loss 830 501 329 508 153 355

of associate
Add/Deduct : Fair value of changes of 1,097 (4,398) 5,495 2,758 610 2,148

foreign currency option contracts
Add : non cash stock-based 891 594 297 11 45 (34)

compensation

Adjusted EBITDA (1,798) 5,594 (7,392) (10,198) 1,179 (11,377)

Twelve months ended Quarter ended

Reconciliation of Profit (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA
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Periods ended Dec 31
2017 2016 Variance 2017 2016 Variance

Revenues 123,550 117,987 5,563 17,790 27,531 (9,741)
Cost of sales excluding depreciation

and amortization (105,184) (95,525) (9,659) (21,175) (20,694) (481)
Adjusted gross margin 18,366 22,462 (4,096) (3,385) 6,837 (10,222)

% of revenue 14.87% 19.04%  (4.2%)  (19.03%) 24.83%  (43.9%)

Twelve months ended Quarter ended

Calculation of Adjusted Gross Margin

Periods ended Dec 31

2017 2016 Variance 2017 2016 Variance

Adjusted EBITDA (1,798) 5,594 (7,392) (10,198) 1,179 (11,377)
Less : Depreciation and amortization (4,955) (3,648) (1,307) (1,946) (1,801) (145)
Adjusted EBIT (6,753) 1,946 (8,699) (12,144) (622) (11,522)

% of revenue  (5.5%) 1.6%  (7.1%)  (68.3%)  (2.3%)  (66.0%)

Calculation of Adjusted EBIT

Twelve months ended Quarter ended

Periods ended Dec 31
2017 2016 Variance 2017 2016 Variance

Adjusted EBITDA (1,798) 5,594 (7,392) (10,198) 1,179 (11,377)

Less: Finance Costs (2,507) (1,425) (1,082) (876) (452) (424)
Cashflow Generated by Operations (4,305) 4,169 (8,474) (11,074) 727 (11,801)

Cashflow Generated by Operations 

Twelve months ended Quarter ended
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
 
 
 
 
To the Shareholders of Empire Industries Ltd.:  
  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Empire Industries Ltd. and its subsidiaries, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss) and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditors' Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Empire 
Industries Ltd. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016 and their financial performance and their 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 
  
April 30, 2018 Chartered Professional Accountants 

 
 



Consolidated Statement of

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016
(In $000's CAD, except where otherwise indicated)

Notes

Revenues(1) 123,550 117,987

Cost of sales, excluding depreciation and amoritzation(2) 17 (105,184) (95,525)
Gross Profit, excluding depreciation and amortization 18,366 22,462

Selling, general and administration expenses 18 (20,164) (16,868)
Result before depreciation, amortization, finance costs, and other items (1,798) 5,594

Finance costs 19 (2,507) (1,425)

Result before depreciation, amortization and other items (4,305) 4,169

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 (2,933) (2,077)
Amortization of intangible assets 8 (2,022) (1,571)
Result before other items of income (loss) (9,260) 521

Share of loss from associate 10 (830) (501)
Stock-based compensation 16 (891) (594)
Fair value changes in derivative financial instruments 25 (1,097) 4,398
Other components of income (loss) 20 (3,470) (1,001)

Net Income (loss) from continuing operations before tax (15,548) 2,823

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations (net of tax) 27 - 2,564

Tax (expense) recovery
Current 22 (2) (130)
Deferred 22 3,907 (1,279)

3,905 (1,409)

Net income (loss) (11,643) 3,978

Other comprehensive income (loss) 99 (57)

Comprehensive income (loss) (11,544) 3,921

Income (loss) per share continuing operations - basic & diluted 21 (0.17) 0.02

Income per share discontinued operations - basic & diluted 21 - 0.04
Income (loss) per share all operations - basic & diluted 21 (0.17) 0.06

(1)  Included in revenue are foreign exchange gains of $257 for the year ended December 31, 2017
(2016 - $1,085)

(2) Cost of sales including depreciation and amortization was $109,180 for the year ended December 31, 2017
(2016 - $98,155)

Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization includes investment tax credits of $3,337 of which $425
were previously unrecognized (2016 - $1,835 of which $755 were previously unrecognized)

See accompanying notes



Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position

As at  Dec 31, 2017  Dec 31, 2016

(In $000's CAD, except where otherwise indicated) Notes

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 13 83 102
Accounts receivable 5 38,850 40,933
Inventory 7 2,339 1,486
Prepaid expenses 803 1,343
Derivative financial instruments 25 - 647
Total current assets 42,075 44,511

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment and investment property, net 9 16,849 13,983
Intangible assets, net 8 8,941 7,762
Deferred tax assets 22 15,385 7,138
Note receivable 11 648 2,814
Investment in associate 10 2,366 1,489
Advances to associate - 929
Other non-current assets 123 92
Total non-current assets 44,312 34,207

Total assets 86,387 78,718

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness 13 2,165 6,856
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12 27,742 23,886
Deferred revenue from construction contracts 6 15,379 7,269
Current portion of long-term debt 14 6,319 7,473
Long-term debt classified as current 14 5,208 11,937
Derivative financial instruments 25 450 -

Total current liabilities 57,263 57,421

Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt 14 - 197
Limited recourse loan 15 892 955
Long-term deferred revenue 6 7,379 -
Deferred tax liabilities 22 71 -
Total non-current liabilites 8,342 1,152

Total Liabilities 65,605 58,573

SHARHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital 16 18,278 8,300
Contributed surplus 16 4,116 4,413

Retained earnings - opening 7,502 11,853
Net income (11,643) 3,978
Dividend distribution of TGHL shares - (8,329)

Retained earnings - closing 16 (4,141) 7,502
Non-controlling interest 16 2,500 -
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 29 (70)
Total shareholders' equity 20,782 20,145

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 86,387 78,718

 
Guarantees and contingencies [note 28]
See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board of Directors:



Consolidated Statements of

Changes in Shareholders' Equity

As at December 31, 2017    

 
Share 
capital

Non-
controlling 

interest
Contributed 

surplus
Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) Total equity

(In $000's CAD, except where otherwise indicated)

As at December 31, 2016 8,300 - 4,413 7,502 (70) 20,145
Proceeds from issuance of common shares 8,969 - - - - 8,969
Conversion of stock options 420 - (420) - - -
Transaction costs (net of tax) (179) - - - - (179)
Non-controlling interest - 2,500 - - - 2,500
Net loss for the year - - - (11,643) - (11,643)
Other comprehensive income - - - - 99 99
Stock-based compensation 768 - 123 - - 891

As at December 31, 2017 18,278 2,500 4,116 (4,141) 29 20,782

As at December 31, 2016

 
Share 
capital

Equity 
component 

of 
convertible 
debentures

Contributed 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
loss Total equity

(In $000's CAD, except where otherwise indicated)

As at December 31, 2015 7,955 144 3,721 11,853 (13) 23,660
Distribution of shares of TGHL - - - (8,329) - (8,329)
Conversion of convertible debenture 345 (144) 98 - - 299
Net income for the year - - - 3,978 - 3,978
Other comprehensive loss - - - - (57) (57)
Stock-based compensation - - 594 - - 594

As at December 31, 2016 8,300 - 4,413 7,502 (70) 20,145
 
See accompanying notes



Consolidated Statements of

Cash Flows

(In $000's CAD, except where otherwise indicated) 2017 2016

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income (loss) from continuing operations after tax (11,544) 1,357
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash :

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,933 2,077
Amortization of intangible assets 2,022 1,571
Impairment of intangible assets - 952
Finance costs on short-tem borrowings 1,034 767
Share of loss from associates investments 830 501
Stock-based compensation 891 594
Fair value changes in derivative financial instruments 1,097 (4,398)
Other items affecting cash flow (note 29) (602) (1,171)
Investment tax credits recorded in cost of sales (3,337) (1,835)
Deferred income taxes (recovery) expense (3,907) 2,030

Cash from (used in) continuing operations (10,583) 2,445

Cash flow from (used in) discontinued operations - (2,120)

Net change in non-cash working capital balances (note 29) 13,889 (6,595)

Cash from (used in) operating activities 3,306 (6,270)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (note 9) (6,341) (5,279)
Acquisition of other long term assets (31) (233)
Proceeds from repayment of note receivable from TGHL 120 120
Proceeds from sale of items of property, plant and equipment 75 -
Acquisiton of intangible assets (note 8) (3,902) (6,902)
Non-controlling interest (note 16) 2,500 -
Decrease (increase) amounts due from an associate - 32

Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations (7,579) (12,262)

Cash used in investing activities of discontinued operations - (98)

Cash used in investing activities (7,579) (12,360)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of common shares [net of transaction costs of $245] 8,041 -
Proceeds received from warrants and stock options exercised 683 -
Proceeds received from long-term debt and finance leases - 18,548
Repayment of long-term debt (7,525) (1,252)
Long-term deferred revenue deposits received (note 6) 7,379 -
Repayment of convertible debentures - (670)
Finance costs paid on long-term borrowings (1,055) (418)

Cash from financing activites of continuing operations 7,523 16,208

Cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations - (37)
Cash flow from financing activities 7,523 16,171

Effect of translation of foreign currency cash and equivalents 1,422 2,015 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and equivalents during the period 4,672 (444)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period (6,754) (6,310)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period (2,082) (6,754)

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of :
Cash 83 102
Bank indebtedness (2,165) (6,856)

(2,082) (6,754)
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1. Corporate information 
Empire Industries Ltd. (“Empire” or “The Group”) designs, builds and installs premium entertainment attractions and 
ride systems for the global entertainment industry.  The Group also uses these same turn-key integration services for 
special projects such as large optical telescopes and enclosures and custom steel fabrication services.  Key customer 
sectors include theme parks, stand-alone tourist venues and the government sector.   
 
Empire Industries Ltd. is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange’s venture exchange trading under “EIL” and is incorporated 
under the Business Corporations Act of Alberta, Canada. The head office is located at 717 Jarvis Avenue, Winnipeg 
Manitoba, R2W 3B4. 
 
The consolidated financial statements were recommended for approval by the Audit Committee and were approved 
and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on April 30, 2018. 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of presentation 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the year ended December 31, 2017 and include the results for 
the comparative year ended December 31, 2016.  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value as disclosed.  Included in 
these consolidated financial statements are the accounts for Empire and all its subsidiaries (the “Group”).  These 
consolidated financial statements have been presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the 
Group. 
 
Statement of compliance 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Empire Industries Ltd. and its wholly owned subsidiaries:  
 
 

  Jurisdiction/     

 Functional    
  Currency Ownership (%) Main Activity 
Dynamic Attractions Ltd. CAN/CAD 100% Media-based attraction integrator 
Dynamic Attractions Inc. US/USD 100% Retail Sales 
Dynamic Attractions HK Ltd. HKD/CAD 100% Holding Company 
Dynamic Entertainment Group Ltd. CAN/CAD 70% Co-venture Company 
Dynamic Optics Inc. CAN/CAD 100% Holding Company 
Zhejiang Dynamic Engineering 
Technology, Ltd. PRC/CNY 100% Holding Company 
Tornado Global Hydrovacs Ltd. CAN/CAD 25% Hydrovac Sales and Manufacturing 
Qiuguang Dynamic Structures Ltd. PRC/CNY 45% Industrial steel manufacturing 
1868480 Alberta Ltd. CAN/CAD 100% Holding Company 

        

 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 
prepared for the same reporting period as Empire, using consistent accounting policies.  All inter-company balances, 
income and expenses and unrealized gains and losses resulting from inter-company transactions are eliminated in full. 
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Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition 
costs for business combinations are expensed and included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair 
value at the date of acquisition. 
 
Investment in associates 
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence (i.e. the power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the associate) but not have control or joint control.  Investments in associates are 
accounted for using the equity method.  The share of income of associates is recognized in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income and its share of other comprehensive income of associates is included in other comprehensive 
income. 
 
If the cumulative losses exceed the carrying value of the equity investment, they are first applied to any additional 
advances that are receivable from the associate to the extent of the total amount receivable.  Additional losses are 
recognized only to the extent that there exists a legal or constructive obligation. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
The reporting currency for the consolidated financial statements is the Canadian dollar.  For subsidiaries in the Group 
whose functional currency is not the Canadian dollar, their results are translated into Canadian dollars as follows: 
 

• assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the statement of 
financial position date, 

• results of operations are translated into Canadian dollars at the average monthly exchange rate; 
• foreign exchange differences arising from exchange rate fluctuations are accounted for in other comprehensive 

income and equity. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the date of the 
transaction.  Gains or losses resulting from the translations are recognized in comprehensive income.  Monetary items 
are translated at the Canadian dollar spot rate as of the reporting date.  Exchange differences from monetary items are 
recognized in comprehensive income.  Non-monetary items that are not carried at fair value are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transaction.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 
 
Revenue recognition 
Revenues are recorded according to IAS 11, “Construction Contracts”, when the criteria are satisfied; otherwise, 
revenues are recorded in accordance with IAS 18, “Revenue”.  A construction contract is a contract specifically 
negotiated for the construction of an asset or a combination of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in 
terms of their design, technology and function or their ultimate purpose or use. 
 
Revenue from construction contracts is determined using the percentage of completion method, based on the ratio of 
costs incurred to date over estimated total costs.  Contract costs include all direct material and labour costs.  
Provisions are recorded for anticipated contract losses as soon as they are evident.  In circumstances where significant 
advance purchases under a contract, such as materials, would result in a materially higher percentage of completion 
estimate for sales than would be indicated by other measures such as labour hours, management adjusts the 
percentage of completion to the lower level indicated by the alternative measure. 
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Anticipated revenues on contracts may include future revenues from claims and unapproved change orders, if such 
additional revenues can be reliably estimated and it is considered probable that they will be recovered.   Such additional 
revenues are limited to the costs related to the claims or unapproved change orders. 
 
Revenues from the design, fabrication and installation of equipment are recorded when the products are completed 
and accepted by the customer or the services are rendered and collection is reasonably assured.  Any foreseeable losses 
on contracts are charged to operations at the time they become evident.  Revenues from the sale of used equipment 
are recognized when title passes from the Group to its customers and collection is reasonably assured.  Revenues from 
operating leases are recognized over the lease term including estimated renewal periods. 
 
Other revenues are recognized when earned in accordance with IAS 18. 
 
Income taxes 
Tax expense is comprised of two components; current tax expense and deferred tax expense. 
 
Current tax  
Recoverable tax assets or current tax liabilities represent the tax authorities’ obligations or claims for prior or current 
periods which are not received or paid at the end of the reporting period.  Current tax is based on taxable income which 
differs from accounting income by definition.  Recoverable tax assets or current tax liabilities are measured using the 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax  
Deferred tax is determined based on differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the calculation of taxable income.  Deferred 
tax assets or liabilities are measured based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of 
the reporting period, and that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled.  
 
Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized for all deductible or taxable temporary differences arising if it is probable 
that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and that taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary difference(s) can be utilized. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets 
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority. 
 
Investment tax credits 
Federal and provincial investment tax credits are accounted for as a reduction to the corresponding expenditures and 
assets in the period in which the credits are earned and when there is reasonable assurance that the credits can be used 
to recover taxes.   
 
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying 
amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is 
regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in 
its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for  
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. 
 
In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period, income 
and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from continuing 
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operations, down to the level of profit after taxes.  In the consolidated statement of financial position, non-current 
assets held for sale have been separately identified.  
 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortized. 
 
Property, plant and equipment and investment property 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of any accumulated depreciation, impairment losses and 
subsequent reversals (if any).  Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows: 
 

Buildings (including investment property) 25 years 
Machinery and equipment (“M&E”) 3 to 15 years 
Vehicles 1 to 7 years 
Office furniture and equipment (“Office Equip”) 3 to 10 years 
Leasehold improvements Over the lease period 
Parking lots 10 years 

 
The assets' useful lives, residual values and methods of depreciation of assets are reviewed annually, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.   
 
Investment property is held to earn rental income and for capital appreciation.  It is recognized at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  With the exception of land, which is not depreciated, investment 
property is depreciated using the straight-line method over its useful life (25 years).  Useful lives and residual values are 
revised annually or when warranted by the circumstances. 
 
Leases 
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 
item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are 
recognized in finance costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset.  However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the 
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated 
useful life of the asset and the lease term. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time, which the Group considers to be 12 months or more, to get ready for its intended use or sale 
are capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets.  All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they 
occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.  
 
Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are initially recognized when the recognition criteria outlined in IAS 38 – Intangible Assets are met.  IAS 
38 outlines the recognition criteria as well as the nature of the amounts to be recognized.   
 
Internally generated intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost.  Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.  The useful lives 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 December 31, 2017 and 2016 

Amounts reported in thousands (000’s) except per share amounts 
 

 
 Page 5 of 33  
 

of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.  Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized 
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may 
be impaired.  The amortization method and amortization period of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed 
at least annually.  Change in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated 
as changes in accounting estimates.  The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognized 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Finite life intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as 
follows: 

Internally developed product designs 3 - 7 years 
Internally generated patents 5 - 7 years 

 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income when the asset is derecognized. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that the non-current assets have 
been impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. An impairment loss is 
recognized in profit or loss when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group determines the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In the measurement of the value in use, estimates of future cash flows 
are discounted at their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are 
considered to be cash equivalents.   
 
Inventory 
Inventory is comprised of raw materials and work in progress.  Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value, using an average cost basis.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.  When the circumstances that 
previously caused inventories to be written down below cost no longer exist or when there is clear evidence of an 
increase in selling prices, the amount of the write down previously recorded is reversed. 
 
Financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently recognized according to their 
classification.  The classification depends on the intention with which the financial instruments were acquired and their 
characteristics.  Unless specific circumstances permitted under IFRS are present, the classification is not modified after 
initial recognition. 
 
Hierarchy of fair value measurements 
The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value into three levels according to the 
observability of the inputs used in their measurement.  
Level 1  
Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical 
assets or liabilities. 
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Level 2 
Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable either directly or 
indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.   
 
Level 3  
Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the 
overall fair value measurement. 
 
Financial assets 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ["FVTPL"] - Financial assets classified as assets held for trading are 
recognized at fair value at each reporting period date, and any change in the fair value is reflected in profit or loss in the 
period during which these changes take place. 
 
Loans and receivables - Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are accounted for at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  Interest income is included in profit or loss over the expected life of the financial asset. 
 
Held-to-maturity investments - Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where the Group 
has a positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity 
investments are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method less impairment, with revenue 
recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 
Available for sale assets - Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value, and the gains/losses 
resulting from the revaluation at the end of each period are recognized in other comprehensive income.  Upon 
derecognition, all cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income are 
reflected in comprehensive income. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets 
Financial assets, other than FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting date. Financial 
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 
The carrying amounts of all financial assets are reduced by the impairment loss directly with the exception of trade 
receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have 
been had the impairment not been recognised. 
 
In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is 
recognised directly in equity. 
 
 
 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 December 31, 2017 and 2016 

Amounts reported in thousands (000’s) except per share amounts 
 

 
 Page 7 of 33  
 

Derecognition of financial assets  
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the 
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and 
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds receivables. 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments  

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities.  Financial liabilities are 
classified as at FVTPL if the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated as such upon initial recognition. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost, where applicable, using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire. 
 
Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of 
its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at fair value determined using the perspective of a market participant at 
the measurement date which is typically the proceeds received.  Direct issue costs are deducted from this value. 
 
Convertible debentures 
The proceeds from the offerings of convertible debentures are recognized as a liability component and an equity 
component, which represents the fair value of equity and the fair value of the financial liability from the fair value of the 
convertible debentures issued.  The fair value of the financial liability is estimated by comparing the stated interest rate 
on the debentures to the prevailing market rates for non-convertible debt with all other terms and conditions consistent 
to the underlying debenture. 
 
Warrants 
Warrants granted in connection with issuing common shares and convertible debentures are recorded at fair value on 
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model or other appropriate measure. The component of the 
capital raised attributable to the fair value of the warrants is recorded in the corresponding period to contributed 
surplus. Any consideration paid by the warrant holder on exercise of the warrant is credited to share capital and 
contributed surplus is decreased. 
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Derivative financial instruments 
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk, comprising 
foreign exchange forward contracts and options.  Derivatives are initially recognised at their fair values at the date the 
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured to their fair values at the end of each reporting 
period. The Group’s derivatives are not designated or do not qualify for hedge accounting, any subsequent change in 
fair value is recognized in income. 
 
Transaction costs 
Transaction costs related to financial instruments that are not classified as assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit and loss, are recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position as an adjustment to the cost of the 
financial instrument upon initial recognition and amortized using the effective interest rate method.  Deferred financing 
expenses related to revolving loans and recognized under non-current assets are amortized over the financing period. 
 
Earnings per share 
The computation of earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
period.  Diluted earnings per share are computed in a similar way to basic earnings per share except that the weighted 
average shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares assuming the exercise of share options, share 
appreciation rights and convertible debt options, if dilutive. 
 
Share-based compensation plans 
Employees of the Group may receive remuneration in the form of stock options.  Awards granted under the Group’s 
stock option plan are recognized in comprehensive income using the fair value method using the Black Scholes method 
for option valuation.  
 
Equity settled transactions 
The cost of equity settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in other capital reserves, 
in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. 
 
When options, warrants and other share-based compensation awards are exercised or exchanged, the amounts 
previously credited to contributed surplus are reversed and credited to shareholder’s equity.  The amount of cash, if 
any, received from participants is also credited to shareholder’s equity. 
 
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings 
per share. 
 
Reportable segments 
A reportable business segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
segments.  All inter-segment transactions are accounted for at fair value. All operating segments’ operating results are 
reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.  The Group has three main 
reportable segments; Media-Based Attractions, Steel Fabrication Services and Corporate segment.  The operating 
segments are described below. 
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Operating Segment Description 

Media-based Attractions Design and manufacture complex ride systems, telescopes and custom machinery 
and equipment.  Turn key supplier of premium entertainment attractions and 
provider of parts and service of amusement park attractions.  Leased production 
facilities in Port Coquitlam, BC.  Leased sales offices in Orlando FL, Arlington, TX and 
Toronto, ON. 

Steel Fabrication Services Structural steel fabrication and installation.  Fabrication of tanks, pressure vessels and 
other specialty carbon and stainless-steel products. One owned production facility 
west of Edmonton, AB and a leased sales office in Edmonton, AB as well as a leased 
production facility in Winnipeg, MB. 

Corporate Head office located in Winnipeg.  Executive management, managerial and financial 
oversight, business development and compliance requirements for the overall 
organization as well as management services to the other operating segments. 

 
Post-retirement benefit plans 
The Group contributes to retirement savings plans subject to maximum limits per employee.  The Group accounts for 
such defined contributions as an expense in the period in which the contributions are required to be made.  The Group 
does not have any defined benefit plans.   
 
Adoption of new accounting standards – IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 
The IASB issued amendments to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, which were effective January 1, 2017.  The objective of 
the amendments is to enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities.  The amendments require additional disclosures that enable investors to evaluate changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.  The adoption of these 
amendments has resulted in additional disclosures in the consolidated financial statements (note 29). 
 

3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities.  Actual results could differ from those judgements, estimates and assumptions.  The items whose actual results 
could differ significantly from those judgements, estimates and assumptions are described below. 
 
Critical judgements made in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

Cash generating units 
For assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
inflows.  Management determines which groups of assets can generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
other operations within the Group. 
 
Operating segments 
The Group considers both the qualitative and quantitative aspects when identifying reportable operating segments, 
specifically whether a subset of the Group has a separate chief operating decision maker even if it meets one or more 
of the separate recognition quantitative thresholds. 
 
Control and significant influence over less than 100% owned affiliates  
The Groups assumes that it exercises significant influence when its ownership percentage exceeds 20% but is less than 
50% and assumes that it exercises control when its ownership percentage exceeds 50% unless in either scenario, there 
are other factors that would change that assumption. 
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Revenue recognition 
The percentage of completion method and the revenue to be recognized are determined on the basis of estimates for 
which the Group has implemented an internal financial budgeting and reporting system which relies on historical 
experience.  The Group reviews the estimates of contract revenue and contract costs as of each reporting date.  Contract 
losses are recognized as soon as they are identified. 
 
The determination of anticipated costs for completing a contract is based on estimates that can be affected by a variety 
of factors such as potential variances in scheduling and cost of materials along with the availability and cost of qualified 
labour and subcontractors, productivity, and possible claims from subcontractors. 
 
The determination of anticipated revenues includes the contractually agreed revenue and may also involve estimates of 
future revenues from claims and unapproved change orders if such additional revenues can be reliably estimated and it 
is considered probable that they will be recovered. A change order results from a change to the scope of the work to be 
performed compared to the original contract that was signed.   An example of such contract variation could be a change 
in the specifications or design of the project, whereby costs related to such variation might be incurred prior to the 
client’s formal contract amendment signature. A claim represents an amount expected to be collected from the client 
or a third-party as reimbursement for costs incurred that are not part of the original contract. In both cases, 
management’s judgments are required in determining the probability that additional revenue will be recovered from 
these variations and in determining the measurement of the amount to be recovered.  Revenues associated with these 
construction costs will be recognized if management believes the receipt of such revenues is probable and the amount 
to be received can be measured reliably.   
 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 
Given the nature of business and the credit terms provided to customers, estimates and judgements are inherent in the 
on-going assessment of the recoverability of some accounts receivable.  The Group maintains an allowance for doubtful 
accounts to reflect expected credit losses.  The Group is not able to predict changes in the financial conditions of its 
customers and the Group’s judgement related to the recoverability of accounts receivable may be materially impacted 
if the financial condition of the Group’s customers deteriorates. 
 
Valuation of inventory 
Estimates and judgements are inherent in the determination of the net realizable value of inventories.  The cost of 
inventories may not be fully recoverable if they are damaged or if the selling price of the inventory is less than its cost.  
The Group regularly reviews its inventory quantities and reduces the cost attributed to inventory no longer deemed to 
be fully recoverable.  Estimates related to the determination of net realizable value may be impacted by a number of 
factors including market conditions. 
 
Share-based payments 
The Group measures the cost of share-based payments to employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date on which they are granted.  Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires 
determining the most appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant.  This 
estimate also requires the determination of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected 
life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them.   
 
Warranty Provision 
The Group provides warranty services for its media-based attractions and related service offerings that are sold to its 
clients.  The Group assesses the amount of warranty provision required based on number of products under warranty 
and uses its judgement based on previous experience to determine the value of the warranty provision required.  At 
December 31, 2017 the Group has recorded a warranty provision of $128 (2016 - $nil). 
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Intangible assets 
Expenditures of research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new technical knowledge and 
understanding, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  Development activities involve a plan or design for the 
production of new or substantially improved products and processes.  Development expenditure is capitalized only if 
development costs can be measured reliably, the product of process is technically and commercially feasible, future 
economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to 
use or sell the asset (note 8). 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group's impairment test is based on value in use calculations that use a discounted cash flow model.  The cash flows 
are derived from the forecast and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or 
significant future investments that may enhance the performance of the cash generating unit being tested.  The 
calculation is sensitive to the discount rate applied as well as the expected future cash inflows. 
 
Useful lives of key property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets 
Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets are based on 
management’s judgment and experience. When management identifies that the actual useful lives for these assets differ 
materially from the estimates used to calculate depreciation and amortization, that change is adjusted prospectively. 
Asset lives, depreciation and amortization methods, and residual values are reviewed periodically.  
 
The Group periodically assesses the recoverability of values assigned to long-lived assets after considering potential 
impairment indicated by such factors as significant changes in technological, market, economic or legal environment, 
business and market trends, future prospects, current market value and other economic factors. In performing its review 
of recoverability, management estimates either the value in use or fair value less costs to sell. 
 
Taxes 
The Group accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method.  Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized based on deductible or taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax 
bases of the assets and liabilities.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantially enacted tax rates 
expected to apply in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.  If the estimates and 
assumptions are modified in the future, the Group may be required to reduce or increase the value of deferred tax 
assets or liabilities resulting in, where applicable, an income tax expense or recovery.  The Group regularly evaluates 
deferred tax assets and liabilities.  As at December 31, 2017 the Group has an asset of $15,385 (2016 - $7,138) pertaining 
to projected future use based on management’s budget and estimates.  Management has recorded investment tax 
credit using costs and project methodologies that had been previously accepted as filed. 
 
 
 

4. Standards issued but not yet effective 
As of January 1,2018 or later dates, the Group will be required to adopt certain standards and amendments issued by 
the IASB as described below, for which the Group is currently assessing the impact.  Standards and interpretations that 
have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been adopted by the Group for these 
consolidated financial statements.  The Group reasonably expects the following standards to be applicable to its 
consolidated financial statements at a future date as listed below: 
 
IFRS 9 Financial instruments 
IFRS introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities.  Under IFRS 
9 financial assets are classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held and the 
characteristics of their contractual cash flows.  IFRS 9 also introduced additional changes related to the financial 
liabilities.  The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  The Group is currently 
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assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 
IFRS 15, issued in May 2014, specifies how and when entities recognize revenue, as well as requires more detailed 
and relevant disclosures. IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty 
programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the construction of real estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers of assets from customers 
and SIC-31 Revenue – barter transactions involving advertising services. The standard provides a single, principles 
based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers, with certain exceptions. The five steps are: 

1. Identify the contract(s) with the customer. 
2. Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract. 
3. Determine the transaction price. 
4. Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation in the contract. 
5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group is currently assessing the 
impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 
IFRS 16 - Leases replaces IAS 17 - Leases and requires lessees to account for leases on balance sheet by recognizing a 
right of use asset and a lease liability. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged and the distinction 
between operating and finance leases is retained. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019, with earlier adoption permitted.  The Group is currently assessing the impact of this standard on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
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5. Accounts receivable 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Trade 7,292   9,339 
Unbilled construction contract receivables (note 6) 29,070   30,851 
Other receivables 1,308   847 
Current portion of note receivable (note 10) 1,200   - 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (20)   (104) 

  38,850   40,933 

        
The Group's breakdown of the aging of trade accounts receivables is as 
follows: 

      

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

< 30 days 1,423   4,686 
> 30 days 1,014   1,613 
> 60 days 845   402 
> 90 days 806   966 
Holdbacks 3,204   1,672 
  7,292   9,339 

 
6. Construction contracts 

 
  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 
Construction costs incurred and estimated profits, less recognized losses 
to date 

198,731   186,118 
Less: Progress billings (192,419)   (162,472) 
  6,312   23,646 

        
Items recognized and included in the consolidated financial statements as:        

Unbilled construction contract receivables (note 5) 29,070   30,915 
Deferred revenue from construction contracts - current portion (15,379)   (7,269) 
Deferred revenue from construction contracts - long-term portion (7,379)   - 

  6,312   23,646 

 
7. Inventories 

Inventories are comprised of the following:  
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Raw Materials 2,289   1,421 
Work-in-progress 50   65 
  2,339   1,486 

 
During the year, the Group recorded inventory write-downs of $104 (2016 - $nil).  The value of inventories recognized 
as an expense within cost of goods sold is $249 (2016 - $596).  
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8. Intangible assets 
 

  Product Design Patents Total 

Opening cost balance December 31, 2015 2,534 2,965 5,499 
Additions 3,674 3,228 6,902 
Investment tax credits (366) (383) (749) 
Impairment and disposals (706) (1,219) (1,925) 
Ending cost balance December 31, 2016 5,136 4,591 9,727 
Opening amortization balance December 31, 2015 675 692 1,367 
Amortization expense for the year 701 870 1,571 
Impairment and disposals (706) (267) (973) 
Ending amortization balance December 31, 2016 670 1,295 1,965 
Opening net book value December 31, 2015 1,859 2,273 4,132 
        

Ending net book value December 31, 2016 4,466 3,296 7,762 
        

Opening cost balance December 31, 2016 5,136 4,591 9,727 
Additions 2,159 1,743 3,902 
Investment tax credits (316) (385) (701) 
Ending cost balance December 31, 2017 6,979 5,949 12,928 
Opening amortization balance December 31, 2016 670 1295 1,965 
Amortization expense for the year 1,084 938 2,022 
Ending amortization balance December 31, 2017 1,754 2,233 3,987 
Opening net book value December 31, 2016 4,466 3,296 7,762 
        

Ending net book value December 31, 2017 5,225 3,716 8,941 
 
 
The Group’s Media-based attractions operating segment has designated certain proprietary product designs and other 
items under development that will be patented as internally generated intangible assets.   
 
In 2016, patented technology recorded under patents, was redesigned by the Group resulting in an impairment charge 
of $952 being recorded by the Group for the previous technology due to its uncertainty regarding future use. Should 
those circumstances change in future accounting periods, the Group will consider reversing all or some portion of the 
impairment charge recorded.  
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9. Property, plant and equipment and investment property 
 
 

  Land Building M&E Office 
Equip. 

Lease- 
holds 

Vehicles Parking 
Lots 

Total 

 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

COST 
        

Balance, December 31, 2015 850 4,104 10,744 3,853 1,728 241 45 21,565 
Additions - 349 2,711 993 1,220 3 3 5,279 
Investment tax credits received - - (224) - - - - (224) 
Foreign exchange adjustments - - - (7) (17) (1) - (25) 
Disposals - - - (19) 0 (2) - (21) 
Balance, December 31, 2016 850 4,453 13,231 4,820 2,931 241 48 26,574          

DEPRECIATION 
        

Balance, December 31, 2015 - 1,002 6,235 2,745 369 155 30 10,536 
Depreciation charge for the year - 210 819 499 519 27 3 2,077 
Foreign exchange adjustments - - - - (1) - - (1) 
Disposals - - - (19) - (2) - (21) 
Balance, December 31, 2016 - 1,212 7,054 3,225 887 180 33 12,591 
Net book value, December 31, 
2016 850 3,241 6,177 1,595 2,044 61 15 13,983          

COST 
        

Balance, December 31, 2016 850 4,453 13,231 4,820 2,931 241 48 26,574 
Additions - 50 3,980 892 1,381 38 - 6,341 
Investment tax credits received - - (165) - - - - (165) 
Foreign exchange adjustments - - (47) (17) (109) (3) - (176) 
Disposals - - (301) - - - - (301) 
Balance, December 31, 2017 850 4,503 16,698 5,695 4,203 276 48 32,273          

DEPRECIATION 
        

Balance, December 31, 2016 - 1,212 7,054 3,225 887 180 33 12,591 
Depreciation charge for the year - 214 1,354 585 748 29 3 2,933 
Foreign exchange adjustments - - (10) (7) (33) (1) - (51) 
Disposals - - (49) - - - - (49) 
Balance, December 31, 2017           -    1,426 8,349 3,803 1,602 208 36 15,424 
Net book value, December 31, 
2017 850 3,077 8,349 1,892 2,601 68 12 16,849 

 
 
During the year, the Group recorded revenue of $61 from the investment property (2016 - $63) with recoverable direct 
operating expenses of $29 (2016 - $37). Included in depreciation expense for the year is depreciation of $20 relating to 
the investment property (2016 - $20).  The Group estimates that the net book value of investment property consisting 
of land of $190 (2016 - $190) and the net book value of the building of $374 (2016 - $394) which the Group estimates 
approximates the fair value.   
 
Fully amortized items of property, plant and equipment with a historical cost of $2,499 (2016 - $2,166) are still in use by 
the Group.  
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10. Investment in associates 
On September 15, 2017, the Group converted it’s note receivable in Tornado Global Hydrovacs Ltd. (“TGHL”) of $2,696 
into 30,185,544 common shares of TGHL valued at $0.09 per common share representing 25% of the outstanding 
common shares of TGHL.  The closing share price of shares of TGHL on September 15, 2017 was $0.085 per share 
resulting in a loss on the initial conversion of $131. 
 

TGHL Equity Accounted for Investments Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Beginning balance                      -                           -    
Conversion of note receivable in common shares of TGHL 2,696                        -    
Loss on conversion (131)    -  
Current period equity losses (199)                        -    

                 2,366                         -    

 
TGHL is incorporated in Alberta, Canada and through its subsidiaries, designs, fabricates, manufactures and sells 
hydrovac trucks to excavation service providers in the oil and gas and municipal markets in North America and is in the 
process of expanding into China. TGHL’s corporate office is located at Suite 510, 7105 McLeod Trail, SW, Calgary, Alberta, 
T2H 2K6. 
 
The tables below disclose the assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2017 and income and expenses of TGHL for the 
year ended December 31, 2017: 
 

TGHL Statement of Financial Position Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Current assets 14,871                  -    
Non-current assets 7,191                  -    
Current liabilities (3,537)                  -    
Non-current liabilities (672)                  -    
Equity        17,853                   -    

        
        

TGHL Revenue and Profit (Loss) Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Revenue        29,781                   -    
Profit (1,579)                  -    

 
Until December 28, 2017, the Group held a 49% interest in Athabasca Chipewyan Empire Industrial Services Ltd. (“ACE”), 
Fort McMurray, Canada, which is involved in the steel fabrication and installation business and provides multi-trade 
industrial construction as well as maintenance services.   
 

ACE Equity Accounted for Investments Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Beginning balance 1,489   1,990 
Current year equity losses (631)   (501) 
Proceeds from disposal of investment (note 11) (858)   - 

                       -      1,489 
 
 
The tables below disclose the assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 and income and 
expenses of ACE for the year ended December 31, 2017 and 2016: 
 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 December 31, 2017 and 2016 

Amounts reported in thousands (000’s) except per share amounts 
 

 
 Page 17 of 33  
 

ACE Statement of Financial Position Dec 31, 2017  Dec 31, 2016 

Current assets -  1,813 
Non-current assets -  2,338 
Current liabilities -  (874) 
Non-Current liabilities -  (2,294) 
Equity -  983 

    
    

ACE Revenue and Profit (Loss) Dec 31, 2017  Dec 31, 2016 

Revenue 6,883  5,638 
Profit (1,262)  (1,024) 

 
The Group has a 45% interest in Dongguan Qiguang Dynamic Steel Structures Ltd (“QDSL”), in Dongguan, Guangdong 
P.R. China which is involved in the steel fabrication and installation business in China which the Group has assessed as 
immaterial.  QDSL is a private entity and is not listed on any public exchange.  The Group’s share of future equity earnings 
will be applied to the principal of the limited recourse loan owing to Qiguang Investment (HK) Limited until such time as 
the principal is repaid in full (note 14).  The Group assessed the current fair value of the investment at $nil (2016 - $nil).  
The Group is not exposed to any additional losses beyond its initial investment amount.  The Group has not disclosed 
any financial information for QDSL as financial information is not available at the date of release. 
 

11. Notes receivable 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Beginning balance 2,814   - 
Note receivable from the sale of TGHL -   2,895 
Accrued interest 41   39 
Interest payments (39)   - 
Note principle payments (120)   (120) 
Conversion of note receivable from TGHL (note 10) (2,696)   - 
Note receivable from the sale of ACE 1,848   - 
Reclass current portion of note receivable (1,200)   - 

                    648    2,814 
 
As outlined in note 10, on September 15, 2017, the Group converted it’s note receivable in TGHL of $2,696 into 
30,185,544 common shares of TGHL share representing 25% of the outstanding common shares of TGHL.   
 
On December 28, 2017, the Group sold its 49% interest in ACE to the majority shareholder for total consideration of 
$1,848 representing the value of investment of $858 and the and the balance of the long-term shareholder advance of 
$990.  The consideration of $1,848 is in the form of an unsecured note receivable that yields interest at 3% per annum 
with payments of $800 due on closing which was received on January 8, 2018, $400 on September 30, 2018, $400 on 
September 30, 2019 and $248 plus all accrued interest on September 30, 2020.  The Group has $1,200 recorded in 
accounts receivable related to the note receivable payments to be received in 2018 (note 5). 
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12. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 25,812   22,830 
Accrued wages, vacation and bonuses payable 1,611   986 
Commodity and other taxes payable 319   70 
  27,742   23,886 

 
13. Bank indebtedness and bank operating lines 

 
The Group’s cash balance of $83 (2016 - $102) represents funds on deposit.  At December 31, 2017, the Group had total 
draws on its bank operating lines of credit of $2,165 (2016 - $6,856).    Advances on the facility are payable on demand 
and bear interest at Canadian prime rate plus 1.5%.  The overdraft facility with a limit of $15,000 (2016 - $15,000) is 
secured by a general security agreement providing a first security interest in all present and after-acquired property of 
the Group. 
 

14. Long-term debt 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

CIBC term loans 2,728   6,084 
EDC term loan 8,782   13,427 
Other finance leases 114   255 
  11,624   19,766 
        
Deferred finance costs allocated (97)   (159) 
  11,527   19,607 
Less : current portion of long-term debt 6,319   7,473 
Less : long-term debt classified as current 5,208   11,937 
Long-term portion -   197 

 
The CIBC term loans bear interest at prime plus 1.5%. The Group makes equal monthly principal payments of $62 plus 
accrued interest in the first term loan which matures on November 1, 2018 and makes equal monthly principal payments 
of $51 plus accrued interest on the second loan which matures on May 1, 2021.  The CIBC term loans are part of the 
same credit facility agreement described in note 13 and is secured by general security agreements providing a first 
security interest in all present and after-acquired property of the Group.  The Group has recorded unamortized financing 
costs of $68 (2016 - $113) associated with securing the CIBC term loan as a net reduction of the overall long-term debt 
balance. 
 
The EDC term loan bears interest at the US prime rate plus 2% has an outstanding principal balance of $10,000 USD.  
The loan is repayable in ten quarterly installments of $1,000 USD commencing in April 2017, to be repaid in full by 
October 2019.  The EDC term loan has specific security ascribed to it in co-operation with CIBC and possesses cross-
default clauses with the CIBC loan agreement.  The Group has recorded unamortized financing costs of $29 (2016 - $46) 
associated with securing the EDC term loan as a net reduction of the overall long-term debt balance.   
 
Long-term debt of $5,208 (2016 - $11,937) was classified as current as the Group was in violation of its Senior Debt to 
EBITDA and Fixed Charge covenants in its credit agreement as at December 31, 2017 and the comparative period for 
which a formal waiver was received after December 31, 2017 but prior to the release of the financial statements.   
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Other finance leases are for vehicles and shop equipment that bears interest between 4 - 7% with aggregate monthly 
payments of $14 maturing between in 2018.  The leases are secured by the assets being leased with a net book value of 
$352 comprised of $321 of machinery and equipment and $31 of vehicles (2016 - $384 of machinery and equipment 
and $37 of vehicles).  
 
The Group’s long-term debt is scheduled with consideration of the waiver to be repaid over the next five years as follows: 
 
 

2018   6,381 
2019   4,376 
2020   612 
2021   255 

    11,624 
 

15. Limited recourse loan 
 
The limited recourse loan was issued on November 14, 2011 in the amount of $711 USD (2017 – CAD $892 and 2016 – 
CAD $955) and the proceeds were used to fund the Group’s 45% investment in Dongguan Qiguang Dynamic Steel 
Structures Limited (“QDSL”) in Dongguan, Guangdong, P.R. China (note 10).  The loan bears interest at 10% per annum 
payable quarterly.  Security for the loan for Qiguang Investment (HK) Limited is restricted to the Group’s shares of QDSL. 
There is no term on the loan and principal repayments for the loan is restricted only to the Group’s share of the equity 
earnings of QDSL.  Total interest expense in 2017 of $92 (2016 - $94) has been paid or accrued on the limited recourse 
loan with accrued interest of $54 (2016 - $70) recorded in accounts payable at the date of the consolidated statement 
of financial position.   
 
 

16. Share capital 
 
Common shares 
The Group is permitted to issue an unlimited number of common shares without nominal or par value and an unlimited 
number of preferred shares.  The preferred shares may be issued in one or more series, and the Directors are authorized 
to fix the number of shares in each series and to determine the designation, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions 
attached to the shares of each series.  
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Common Shares (issued and outstanding - no par value) 85,661,568   65,937,060 
        
Share capital - opening balance 8,300   7,955 
Proceeds from right's offering 3,912   - 
Proceeds from subscription receipts agreement 3,000   - 
Proceeds from private placements 1,374   - 
Stock-based compensation - inducement shares issued 768   - 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 683   - 
Non-cash component of options and warrants exercised 420   - 
Conversion of convertible debentures -   345 
Transaction costs (net of tax) (179)   - 
  18,278   8,300 

 
On November 29th, 2017, the Group completed a right’s offering for gross proceeds of $3,912 in exchange for 7,823,675 
common shares valued at $0.50 per common share.  Of the total gross proceeds, $3,000 is to be directed towards the 
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Group’s future planned investment into co-venture initiatives to own and operate media-based attractions in select 
locations throughout the world.  The balance of the proceeds, $912 was directed towards general working capital 
purposes. 
 
On December 21st, 2017, the Group completed a subscription receipt private placement for gross proceeds of $3,000 in 
exchange for 6,000,000 common shares valued at $0.50 per common share.  The total gross proceeds are also to be 
directed towards the Group’s future planned co-venture investment initiatives.  The subscription receipt private 
placement was conditional upon the Group raising a minimum of $3,000 in its separate right’s offering which was 
completed on November 29th, 2017. 
 
On December 18, 2017, the Group completed a private placement for gross proceeds of $950 in exchange for 1,900,000 
common shares value at $0.50 per common share. The total gross proceeds were directed towards general working 
capital purposes. 
 
 
On August 18th, 2017 the Group completed an executive private placement for gross proceeds of $424 in exchange for 
800,000 common shares valued at $0.53 per common share.  The total gross proceeds were directed towards general 
working capital purposes.   In conjunction with this private placement, the Group issued inducement shares to the 
executives in the private placement totalling 1,200,000 common shares.  The Group determined that fair value of the 
inducement shares to be $768 which represents the $0.64 per common share which was the closing price on the day 
the shares were issued. 
 
During the year, 2,000,833 options and warrants were exercised for cash proceeds of $683.  In addition to the cash 
proceeds, contributed surplus of $420 was reclassed to share capital upon the exercising of the options and warrants. 
 
In 2016, 1,102,941 shares were issued through the conversion of convertible debentures.  The $345 increase in share 
capital is the conversion of the convertible debenture liability of $299 and the equity portion of the convertible 
debentures converted of $46.  
 
Warrants 
The Group has 6,300,000 warrants outstanding from a private placement of common shares in 2013.  Each outstanding 
warrant entitles the holder to buy one common share at an exercise price of $0.27 per share until July 10, 2018.  A 
summary of the Group's warrants as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 and changes during the periods then 
ended follows:  
 

    Weighted     Weighted 
    Average      Average  

  Dec 31, 2017 Exercise Price   Dec 31, 2016 Exercise Price 

Balance, beginning of the year 6,925,000 0.27   6,925,000 0.27 
Warrants issued - -   - - 
Warrants exercised (625,000) 0.27   - - 
Warrants expired - -   - - 
Balance, end of the year 6,300,000 0.27   6,925,000 0.27 

Exercisable 6,300,000 0.27   6,925,000 0.27 

Weighted remaining average life (years) 0.52     1.52   

 
Stock Options 
The Group maintains a stock option plan for the benefit of officers, directors, key employees and consultants of the 
Group. At December 31, 2017 the Group was permitted to issue up to a maximum of 8,566,157 stock options, being 10% 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 December 31, 2017 and 2016 

Amounts reported in thousands (000’s) except per share amounts 
 

 
 Page 21 of 33  
 

of the outstanding common shares.  A summary of the Group’s options as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 
and changes to the years then ended are as follows: 
 

  Dec 31, 2017 
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price   Dec 31, 2016 
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price 
Balance, beginning of the year 6,067,500 0.40   6,002,500 0.39 
Options issued - 0.00   2,008,750 0.40 
Options expired - 0.00   (1,413,750) 0.40 
Options forfeited - 0.00   (530,000) 0.37 
Options exercised (1,375,833) 0.37   - 0.00 
Balance, end of the year 4,691,667 0.40   6,067,500 0.40 
Exercisable 4,426,667 0.40   5,260,416 0.39 

Weighted remaining average life (years) 2.42     3.07   

 
 

        
  Options - Outstanding   Options - Exercisable 

Exercise Price ($) Number 
Outstanding 

Weighted Average 
Remaining Life (years) 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price ($) 

  Number 
Exercisable 

Weighted Average   
Exercise Price ($) 

0.32 25,000 3.13 0.32   25,000 0.32 
0.36 1,358,750 0.94 0.36   1,358,750 0.36 
0.40 2,495,417 3.35 0.40   2,230,417 0.40 
0.44 250,000 2.07 0.44   250,000 0.44 
0.50 562,500 2.40 0.50   562,500 0.50 
  4,691,667 2.42 0.40   4,426,667 0.40 

 
The fair value associated with the options granted was calculated using the Black-Scholes model for option valuation. A 
summary of the Group’s valuations assumptions, key inputs, valuation results and stock-based compensation details are 
as follows:  
 

Issuance 
Year Vesting Term Assumed 

Volatility Risk-free Rate Market Price   
@ Grant Fair Value 2017 SBC 2016 SBC 

2015 3 Years 138% 0.56% 0.42 85 1 17 
2015 3 Years 134.93% 0.76% 0.50 226 17 70 
2016 2 Years 135.94% 0.53% 0.395 640 105 501 
2016 3 Years 127.42% 0.61% 0.32 7 - 6 

            123 594 
                

Included in the stock-based compensation balance of $891 is stock-based compensation of $768 which is the fair value 
of inducement shares issued to executives that participated in an executive private placement.  Because the transaction 
resulted in the immediate issuance of the shares, the stock-based compensation expense associated with the shares 
was charged directly to share capital. 
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Contributed surplus 

Changes in contributed surplus consisted of the following:  

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Balance, beginning of the year 4,413   3,721 
Stock-based compensation expense (net of forfeitures) 123   594 
Equity portion of convertible debentures redeemed -   98 
Re-class of stock-based compensation expense for options exercised (420)   - 

Balance, end of the year 4,116   4,413 
 

Retained earnings 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Opening retained earnings 7,502   11,853 
Net income (loss) (11,071)   3,978 
Dividend distribution of shares of TGHL -   (8,329) 

Balance, end of the year (3,569)   7,502 
 

On June 28, 2016, the Group and Tornado Global Hydrovacs Limited (“TGHL”), entered into a plan of arrangement to 
Spin-out the Group’s Hydrovac business (its Manufactured Products operating segment) for 32,417,056 common shares 
of TGHL and a note receivable of $2,895 bearing interest at 2.7% representing total consideration of $11,224.  $8,329 
was distributed to the shareholders of EIL as proceeds from the transaction.  

 
Non-controlling interest 
On December 21, 2017 the Group incorporated a new entity, Dynamic Entertainment Group Ltd. (“DEGL”).  The Group 
invested $6,000 for 71% ownership of DEGL and an additional $2,500 was invested by a third party for 30% ownership.  
The Group controls DEGL and as such has consolidated its opening statement of financial position within the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.  In conjunction with that, the Group has separately disclosed the non-controlling 
interest component of DEGL within the Group’s shareholder equity section.  DEGL did not have any operations in the 
fiscal year. 
 

17. Cost of sales 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 
Direct construction costs (89,977)   (81,495) 
Indirect salaries and benefits (8,951)   (8,308) 
Indirect production costs (6,256)   (5,722) 

  (105,184)   (95,525) 
 
Included in cost of sales is $953 (2016 - $974) expensed during the year for defined contribution plans. 
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18. Selling and administrative expenses 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Salaries and benefits (11,519)   (9,889) 
General, selling and administrative expenses (8,645)   (6,979) 

  (20,164)   (16,868) 
 
Included in selling and administrative expenses is $285 (2016 - $140) expensed during the year for defined contribution 
pension plans. 
 

19. Finance costs 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 
Interest on long-term borrowings (987)   (574) 
Interest on short-term borrowing and other (1,034)   (809) 
Accelerated payments discounts (424)   - 
Accretion expense -   (18) 
Deferred financing charges (62)   (24) 

  (2,507)   (1,425) 
 

20. Other components of income (loss) 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 
Restructuring provision (1,045)   - 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (177)   - 
Provision for customer rebates (2,322)   - 
Impairment of intangible assets (note 8) -   (952) 
Miscellaneous income (loss) 74   (49) 

  (3,470)   (1,001) 
 
The Group has recorded a restructuring charge of $1,045 in the period relating to its curtailment of independent steel 
fabrication services and has restructured and refining its overall operations, of which $469 remains in accrued 
liabilities at December 31, 2017.  The restructuring charge and remaining provision includes severances for the 
affected employees, lease costs for facilities and equipment and other permitted expenditures.   
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21. Income per share 
Income per share for the year ended December 31:  
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 
        
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (11,643)   1,414 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations -   2,564 
        
  (11,643)   3,978 
        
Basic weighted average number of shares 67,970,425   64,834,119 

Effect of diluted securities        
Net incremental dilutive shares -   1,102,941 

Diluted weighted average number of shares 67,970,425   65,937,060 

Net earnings (loss) per share       
Basic and diluted - continuing operations (0.17)   0.02 
Basic and diluted - discontinued operations -   0.04 
Basic and diluted - all operations (0.17)   0.06 

 
Basic earnings per share is derived by dividing the earnings for the year by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period.  Dilutive earnings per share is derived by dividing the adjusted earnings by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding assuming all dilutive securities are exercised at the 
beginning of the year.  The effect of potentially dilutive securities (“in-the-money” executive stock options, “in-the-
money” warrants and convertible debentures) are excluded if they are anti-dilutive. 
 
22. Income tax expense (recovery)  

 
The major components of tax expense (recovery) from continuing operations are as follows:  

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Current tax expense 2   130 

Total current tax expense (recovery) 2   130 

Deferred tax expense relating to origination and reversal of temporary 
differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax credits (3,907)   1,279 

Total deferred tax expense (recovery) (3,907)   1,279 

Total income tax expense (recovery) (3,905)   1,409 
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The reconciliation between income tax expense (recovery) and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the 
combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate is as follows:  

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Accounting profit (15,549)   5,604 
Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax rate 27.01%   27.00% 
Income tax calculated using combined federal and provincial 
statutory income tax rate (4,200)   1,513 
Non-deductible expenses 268   189 
Non-taxable portion of capital gains (2)   (683) 
Equity income of subsidiaries 112   - 
Change in tax rates 66   0 
Other (149)   390 

Income tax recovery (3,905)   1,409 

 

The amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities in respect of each type of temporary difference and in respect of each 
type of unused tax losses and unused tax credits is as follows: 

 
 

 

 

 

Dec 31, 2015

Recognized in 
income tax 

expense

Recognized in 
other 

expenses

Recognized in 
intangible 

assets Dec 31, 2016

Recognized 
in income 

tax expense

Re-
cognized in 

equit

Recognized 
in other 

expenses

Recognized 
in intangible 

assets
Dec 31, 

2017

Deferred tax assets :        
Capital leases 121 (45) - 76 (36) - - - 40
Investment tax credits 2,769 - 1,835 971 5,575 - - 3,338 865 9,778
Non-capital losses 5,007 687 - 5,694 3,063 - - - 8,757
Research and development 
expenses 1,158 708 - 1,866 2,753 - - - 4,619
Share issuance costs 35 (17) - 18 (30) 66 - - 54
Other 1,064 (1,220) - (156) 482 - - - 326

Total deferred tax assets 10,154 113 1,835 971 13,073 6,232 66 3,338 865 23,574

Deferred tax liabilities:
Accounts receivable (859) 407 - (452) (1,693) - - - (2,145)
Convertible debentures (5) 5 - - - - - - -
Intangible assets (1,082) (876) - (1,958) (367) - - - (2,325)
Investment in associate (173) 68 - (105) 106 - - - 1
Investment tax credits (748) (638) - (1,386) (627) - - - (2,013)

Property, plant and equipment (1,458) (359) - (1,817) 327 - - - (1,490)
Other - (217) - (217) - - - - (217)

Total deferred tax liabilities (4,325) (1,610) 0 0 (5,935) (2,254) - - - (8,189)

Foreign operations

Property, plant and equipment - (54) - - - (54)
Other - (17) - - - (17)

Total deferred tax liabilities - (71) - - - (71)

Net deferred tax assets 5,829 (1,497) 1,835 971 7,138 3,907 66 3,338 865 15,314
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23. Operating segments 
A description of the Group’s business segments, Media-based Attractions, Steel Fabrication Services and Corporate are 
included in note 2. Revenue recognition is not consistent between the segments as all revenues are recognized in the 
Steel Fabrication Services segment and Media-based Attractions segments are recognized in accordance with IAS 11 – 
Construction Contracts.  Revenue recognition for the Corporate segment is in accordance with IAS 18. 
 
The tables below show the segmented performance for the Group from its three operating segments, Media-based 
Attractions, Steel Fabrication Services and Corporate for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively: 
 

2017 Media-based 
Attractions 

Steel 
Fabrication 

Services Corporate Total 

Sales 116,160 7,215 175 123,550 
Cost of goods sold excluding depreciation and 
amortization (97,059) (8,125) - (105,184) 

Gross profit, excluding depreciation and amortization 19,101 (910) 175 18,366 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (14,654) (1,542) (3,968) (20,164) 
Result before depreciation, amortization, finance costs 
and other items 4,447 (2,452) (3,793) (1,798) 

 
 

2016 Media-based 
Attractions 

Steel 
Fabrication 

Services Corporate Total 

Sales 101,991 15,778 218 117,987 
Cost of goods sold excluding depreciation and 
amortization (80,733) (14,792) - (95,525) 

Gross profit, excluding depreciation and amortization 21,258 986 218 22,462 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (10,664) (3,101) (3,103) (16,868) 

Result before depreciation, amortization, finance costs 
and other items 10,594 (2,115) (2,885) 5,594 

 

The following table breaks down the sales by geographical region: 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Canada 12,021  19,360 
United States 38,758  19,110 
Asia 63,850  44,989 
Middle East/Europe 8,921   34,528 

  123,550   117,987 

 
All the Group non-current assets are in Canada except for $5,006 (2016 - $2,312) of property, plant and equipment 
located in the United States. 
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24. Capital disclosure and management 
The Group’s objective when managing its long-term capital structure is to strive for a long-term manageable level of 
long-term funded debt to total capitalization.  The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk.  The Group 
manages the capital structure and adjusts it considering changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of 
the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new shares, sell redundant or 
non-core assets or borrow through the issue of long-term debt. 

 
Funded debt is defined as long term debt including finance leases.  Tangible net worth includes shareholder’s equity, 
subordinate debt such as subordinate convertible debentures and limited recourse loans less intangible assets and 
deferred tax assets.  The Group’s strategy during the period, which was unchanged from the prior period, was to 
maintain its ability to secure access to financing at a reasonable cost.  There are external restrictions to capital as lending 
limits are based on asset availability and financing agreements that are impacted by covenants.  Management actively 
monitors these limits to ensure compliance. 
 

For the years ended Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

 
   

Current portion of long-term debt including finance leases 6,319  7,473 
Long-term debt classified as current and finance leases 5,208  12,134 
Funded debt 11,527  19,607 

    
Shareholders' equity 20,782  20,145 
Limited recourse loan 892  955 

Less: deferred tax assets (net) (15,314)  (7,138) 
Less: intangible assets (net) (8,941)  (7,762) 
Less: non-controlling interest (2,500)  - 

Tangible net worth (5,081)  6,200 
Capitalization 6,446  25,807 

    
Funded debt/Capitalization 178.8%   76.0% 

 
 

25. Financial instruments and risk management 
 
The following table presents information on the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value and discloses the 
fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques used to determine this fair value at December 31, 2017: 
 

  Carrying Value Fair Value Classification  Level 

Cash and equivalents 83 83 FVTPL 1 
Accounts receivable 38,850 38,850 Loans & Rec 1 
Note receivable 648 648 Loans & Rec 1 
Derivative financial instruments (450) (450) FVTPL 2 
Bank indebtedness (2,165) (2,165) FVTPL 1 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (27,742) (27,742) Other Fin Liab 1 
Long-term debt including current portion (11,624) (11,624) Other Fin Liab 1 
Limited recourse loan (892) (892) Other Fin Liab 2 
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As at December 31, 2016:  

  Carrying Value Fair Value Classification  Level 

Cash and equivalents 102 102 FVTPL 1 
Accounts receivable 40,933 40,933 Loans & Rec 1 
Advances to associate 929 929 Loans & Rec 2 
Note receivable 2,814 2,814 Loans & Rec 1 
Derivative financial instruments 647 647 FVTPL 2 
Bank indebtedness (6,856) (6,856) FVTPL 1 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (23,886) (23,886) Other Fin Liab 1 
Long-term debt including current portion (19,352) (19,352) Other Fin Liab 1 
Limited recourse loan (955) (955) Other Fin Liab 2 

 
The fair values of cash and equivalents, accounts receivable (including advances to associate), bank indebtedness and 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values given their short-term maturities. 
Management has determined that the fair value of long-term debt including finance leases and limited recourse loans 
do not materially differ from its carrying value as the majority of such debt is subject to floating interest rates and current 
market conditions.  The fair value of the derivative financial instruments is determined by reference to information 
provided by CIBC who the Group holds the contracts with using recognized valuation techniques. 
 
Risk management 
In the normal course of its business, the Group is exposed to a number of risks that can affect its operating performance.  
Management’s close involvement in operations helps identify risks and variations from expectations.  As a part of the 
overall operation of the Group, management considers the avoidance of undue concentrations of risk.  The Group 
manages its risks and risk exposures through a combination of financial instruments, insurance, a system of internal and 
disclosure controls and sound business practices.  The primary types of financial risk which arise are liquidity, credit, and 
market risk.  These risks and the actions taken to manage them are as follows:  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations associated with financial liabilities in full. A 
range of alternatives is available to the Group including cash flow provided by operations, additional debt, the issuance 
of equity or a combination thereof.  The funds are primarily used to finance working capital and capital expenditure 
requirements and are adequate to meet the Group’s foreseeable financial obligations associated with financial liabilities. 

The following table summarizes the Group’s financial liabilities with corresponding maturity dates as at December 31, 
2017: 
 

  Total 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022+ 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 27,742 27,742 - - - - 
Deferred revenue from construction contracts 22,758 15,379 7,379 - - - 
Bank indebtedness 2,165 2,165 - - - - 
Long-term debt 11,624 6,381 4,376 612 255 - 
Limited recourse loan 892 - - - - 892 
Total 65,181 51,667 11,755 612 255 892 

 
The Group expects to have adequate resources to discharge these financial liabilities.  The Group performs a 
comprehensive budgeting process which includes a detailed analysis of projected future cash flows based upon but not 
limited to historical experience and backlog reports.  This process is subject to sensitivity analysis and is periodically 
reviewed against recent and past performance.   
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Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may experience financial difficulty and be unable to fulfill their 
commitments to the Group.  For a financial asset, this is typically the gross carrying amount, net of any amounts offset 
and any impairment losses.  The Group has credit policies to address credit risk on accounts receivable from customers, 
which may include the analysis of the financial position of customers and review of credit limits.  The Group also reviews 
new customer credit history before establishing credit and periodically reviews existing customer credit performance.  
The Group may require letters of credit or credit insurance.  An allowance for doubtful accounts is established based 
upon factors surrounding credit risk of specific customers, historical trends and other information.  At December 31, 
2017, the Group had one individual customer accounting for approximately 20% of total accounts receivable (2016 – 
29%) for which the Group has insured to effectively eliminate the credit risk. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will have an effect on future cash flows associated with financial 
instruments.  There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to Market risks in the manner in which these risks are 
managed or measured. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price 
risk. 
 
Currency risk 
The Group sells its products, as well as, purchases goods in both Canadian and U.S. currencies. Accordingly, the Group 
is exposed to currency risk as it relates to customer accounts receivable balances and trade accounts payable 
denominated in U.S. currency. Changes in the applicable exchange rate may result in a decrease or increase in foreign 
exchange income or expense. The Group may secure forward exchange contracts or use other hedging activities to 
manage part of the foreign risk exposures relating to customer accounts receivable balances and trade accounts payable 
denominated in U.S. currency. 

 
As at December 31, 2017, the Group had forward contracts for $20,000 to sell USD (2016 - $34,120) at forward rates of 
$1.2315 maturing through December 31, 2018.  The accounts noted below include amounts denominated in U. S. 
currency that have been converted to the Canadian dollar equivalent on the balance sheet date at a rate of $1.2545 per 
U.S. dollar (2016 - $1.3427):  
 

(In $000's USD) Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Cash (bank indebtedness) (bank balance less outstanding cheques) 5,587  5,879 
Accounts receivable (including unbilled construction receivables) 23,465  26,279 
Accounts payable & accrued liabilities (8,031)  (7,072) 
Long-term debt (7,711)  (10,000) 
Derivative Financial Instruments (20,000)  (34,120) 

Net foreign currency exposure (6,690)   (19,034) 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2017, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened 10% percent against the US dollar with 
all other variables held constant, net income for the year would have been $669 higher (2016 - $1,903).  Conversely, if 
the Canadian dollar had weakened 10% percent against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, net income 
would have been $669 lower (2016 - $1,903).   
 
Included in revenue are losses on translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities and gains on foreign 
currency transactions of $672 for the year ended December 31, 2017 (2016 – $728). 
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As at December 31, 2017, the Group has the following forward foreign currency contracts outstanding:  

  Nominal Forward Fair 
  Amount Rate Value 

    
Forward contracts expiring March 29, 2018 5,000 1.2315 (119) 
Forward contracts expiring June 29, 2018 5,000 1.2315 (115) 
Forward contracts expiring September 28, 2018 5,000 1.2315 (110) 
Forward contracts expiring December 31, 2018 5,000 1.2315 (106) 
  20,000   (450) 

 

As at December 31, 2016, Group had the following forward foreign currency contracts outstanding: 

 

  Nominal Forward Fair 
  Amount Rate Value 

    
Forward contracts expiring January 30, 2017 540 1.1150 (123) 
Forward contracts expiring January 31, 2017 7,500 1.4035 459 
Forward contracts expiring February 1, 2017 7,500 1.3868 334 
Forward contracts expiring February 27, 2017 540 1.1150 (122) 
Forward contracts expiring March 31, 2017 540 1.1150 (122) 
Forward contracts expiring April 28, 2017 2,500 1.3851 111 
Forward contracts expiring April 28, 2017 5,000 1.3705 148 
Forward contracts expiring December 29, 2017 10,000 1.3323 (38) 
  34,120   647 

 

The Group’s mark to market liability of $450 relating for forward foreign currency contracts was a $1,097 reversal from 
the asset of $647 recorded as at December 31, 2016.  A fair value liability is created when the actual exchange rate as 
of the date of these consolidated financial statements is higher than actual or average rates of the forward contracts 
outstanding.  The size of the liability is influenced by the size of the rate differential as well as the total amount of 
contract outstanding.  Inversely, if the actual exchange rate is below the actual or average rates of the forward contracts 
outstanding a fair value asset will be created. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its variable rates on bank 
operating lines and long-term borrowings.  The Group manages exposure to interest rate risk by using a combination of 
fixed and floating rate debt instruments. 

For the year ended December 31, 2017, if interest rates had been 50 basis points lower with all other variables held 
constant, after-tax net income for the period would have been $135 (2016 - $110) higher, arising mainly as a result of 
lower interest expenses on variable borrowings.  If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher, with all other variables 
held constant, after-tax net income would have been $135 (2016 - $110) lower, arising mainly as a result of higher 
interest expenses on variable borrowings.   

Commodity price risk 
Manufacturing costs for the Group's products are affected by fluctuations in the price of raw materials, primarily steel.  
To manage its risk, the Group implements selling price adjustments to match raw material cost changes.  This matching 
is not always possible as customers react to selling price pressures related to raw material cost fluctuations according 
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to conditions pertaining to their markets.  For long term contracts, the Group may negotiate the inclusion of a flow 
through price adjustment clause into contracts whereby the customer agrees to price changes based on the underlying 
market value of steel.  To limit the risk associated with steel price increases, the Group locks in order prices to the extent 
possible as soon as contracts are awarded. 

The sensitivity analyses in the currency risk and interest rate risk sections above do not take into consideration that the 
Group's liabilities are actively managed.  Additionally, the financial position of the Group may vary at the time that any 
actual market movement occurs or be mitigated by management’s actions to reduce exposure to risks.  Other limitations 
in the above sensitivity analyses includes the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate potential risk that 
only represent the Group's view of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted with any certainty; and 
the assumption that all interest rates move in an identical fashion. 

26. Related parties 
 
The Group had sales to related parties and associates in the amount $413 (2016 - $60), of which $60 were management 
fees (2016 - $60) and purchases from an Associate of $3,902 (2016 - $3,656). In 2016, the Group had $66 of interest 
expense on convertible debentures paid or payable to related parties who were individual debenture holders.  These 
transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of 
consideration established and agreed to by the parties. Compensation awarded to key management included: 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Salary and short-term employee benefits 2,935  2,168 
Post-employment benefits 40  31 
Share-based payments 507  398 
  3,482   2,597 

 
 

27. Discontinued operations – Tornado Trucks 
The Group completed the Spin-out of Tornado Trucks on June 28, 2016 under the terms of a plan of arrangement.  As 
a result, the Group has recorded the operations of Tornado Trucks as a discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 
5 for the periods presented in these financial statements.   
 

 Dec 31, 
2017 

Dec 31, 
2016 

   
   

Revenues - 9,146 
Cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization - (8,781) 
Adjusted gross profit - 365 
   
Selling, general and administrative expenses - (1,085) 
Adjusted EBITDA - (720) 
   
Depreciation and amortization - - 
Adjusted EBIT - (720) 
   
Finance costs - (9) 
Gain on disposal costs (net of disposal costs) - 3,511 
Net loss from discontinued operations before taxes - 2,782 

   
Tax expense (current and deferred) - (218) 
   

         Net loss from discontinued operations (net of tax) - 2,564 
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28. Guarantees and contingencies 

 
Letters of Credit   
In the normal course of business, the Group contracted letters of credit for an amount of $6,273 USD as at December 
31, 2017 (2016 - $6,273).  The Group has a guarantee facility with Export Development Canada to guarantee letters of 
credit for performance security and advance payment guarantees issued by the Group on international construction 
contracts.  The total value of letters of credit disclosed above are guaranteed by this facility.  As at December 31, 2017, 
the limit on the facility was $10,000 USD and is secured by a general security agreement providing second security 
interests in all of the Group’s present and after-acquired property. 

 
Director and officer indemnification 
The Group indemnifies its directors and officers against any and all claims or losses reasonably incurred in the 
performance of their service to the Group to the extent permitted by law.  The Group has acquired and maintains liability 
insurance for its directors and officers as well as those of its wholly-owned subsidiaries and certain affiliated companies. 

 
Other indemnification provisions 
From time to time, the Group enters into agreements in the normal course of operations and in connection with business 
or asset acquisitions and dispositions.  By their nature, these agreements may provide for indemnification of 
counterparties.  The varying nature of these indemnification agreements prevents the Group from making a reasonable 
estimate of the maximum potential amount it could incur.  Historically, the Group has not made any significant payments 
in connection with these indemnification provisions. 
 
Operating lease commitments 
The Group has the operating lease commitments as at December 31, 2017 in the amount of $7,196 for 2018 and 
subsequent years broken down as follows: 
 

Less than 1 year   2,914 
1 year to 3 years   3,190 

3 years to 5 years   1,092 
    7,196 

 
Other contingencies 
The Group is subject to various product liability or general claims and legal proceedings covering matters that arise in 
the ordinary course of business.  All such matters are adequately covered by insurance or by accruals, or are determined 
by management to be without merit, or of such kinds or amounts as would not have a material adverse effect on the 
financial results of the Group.  
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29. Supplemental cashflow information 
The follow table outlines the additional details that comprise cash flow from operating activities in the statement of 
cash flows: 
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Amortization of deferred financing charges 62   23 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 176   - 
Loss (gain) on foreign exchange revaluation of limited recourse loan (63)   29 
Loss on conversion of note receivable to common shares 131   - 
Foreign currency adjusted (net of tax) (99)   57 
Non-cash interest income earned (61)   (76) 
Gain on foreign exchange revaluation of long-term debt (617)   - 
Loss on foreign exchange revaluation of property, plant and equipment 126   - 
Unrealized foreign currency translation gains recorded in revenues (257)   (1,085) 
Accretion of convertible debentures -   19 
Income taxes paid -   (138) 
  (602)   (1,171) 

 
The following table outlines the details that comprises changes in non-cash working capital accounts in the statement 
of cash flows:  
 

  Dec 31, 2017   Dec 31, 2016 

Accounts receivable 3,283   3,663 
Inventory (853)   143 
Prepaid expenses 540   (155) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,856   3,260 
Deferred revenue from construction contracts 8,110   (12,321) 
Other (1,047)   (1,185) 
  13,889   (6,595) 

 
With the adoption of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, the table below discloses the detailed changes in the Group’s 
liabilities from financing activities including cash and non-cash changes: 
 
 

  

Jan 01, 2017 
Cash Flow 
Changes 

Impact of FX 
rate changes 

Amort'n of 
Def'd 

Finance 
Costs Dec 31, 2017 

            
Long-term debt 19,607 (7,525) (617) 62 11,527 
Limited recourse loan 955 - (63) - 892 
  20,562 (7,525) (680) 62 12,419 

 


